
APPENDIX 4E

ANNUAL REPORT

THINKSMART LIMITED
ACN 092 319 698

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

1 Details of the reporting period and the previous corresponding period

Current period: 1 January 2009 to 31 December 2009
Prior corresponding period: 1 January 2008 to 31 December 2008

2 Results for announcement to the market

Year Ended 31 
December 2009

Year Ended 31 
December 2008

Increase on 
Previous 

Period 
Increase on 

Previous Period 
$ $ $ %

2.1 Operating income 36,756,819 38,898,513 -2,141,694 -6%
2.2 Profit after tax attributable to members of ThinkSmart Limited 5,171,776 3,210,752 1,961,024 61%
2.3 Profit after tax attributable to members of ThinkSmart Limited 5,171,776 3,210,752 1,961,024 61%

2.4
Amount per 

security
Franked amount 

per security
2.5

Current period - 2009

Interim 2009 dividend - paid 16 October 2009 1.5 cents 100%
Final 2009 dividend 2.0 cents 100%

Previous corresponding period - 2008

Interim dividend - paid on 13 October 2008 2 cents 40%
Final 2008 dividend - paid on 14 April 2009 1.5 cents 100%

Record date for determining entitlements to the dividends

The record date for the Final 2009 dividend is 8 April 2010.

Brief explanation on Revenue, Net Profit and Dividends

Refer to the 2009 annual report

3 Consolidated income statement

Refer to the 2009 annual report.

4 Consolidated balance sheet

Refer to the 2009 annual report.

5 Consolidated cash flow statement

Refer to the 2009 annual report.

6 Dividend details

The Directors have declared a 2009 final dividend of 2.0 cents per ordinary share, which will be paid on the 23 April 2010.

7 Dividend or distribution reinvestment plans

ThinkSmart Limited does not currently operate a dividend reinvestment plan.

Key Information

Dividends



8 Retained earnings

Year Ended 31 
December 2009

Year Ended 31 
December 2008

$ $
Balance at the beginning of the financial year (4,886,695) (6,163,659)
Dividend paid (2,900,682) (1,933,788)
Profit attributable to equity shareholders of ThinkSmart Limited 5,171,776 3,210,752
Total retained earnings (2,615,601) (4,886,695)

9 Net tangible assets per security

Year Ended 31 
December 2009

Year Ended 31 
December 2008

$ $
Ordinary shares 0.11 0.08

10 Control gained or lost over entities on the financial year

Name of entities where control was gained in the financial year Date control gained
None

Name of entities where lost was gained in the financial year Date control lost
None

11 Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures

ThinkSmart Limited does not have a percentage holding in any associates or joint venture entities.

12 Other information

Refer to the 2009 annual report.

13 Foreign entities

14 Commentary on results for the financial year

Refer to the 2009 annual report.

15 Audited report

This annual report is based on audited accounts.

16 Statement if financial report is not audited

Not applicable as the annual report is audited.

17 Statement if financial statement is audited

The annual report has been audited and is not subject to disputes or qualifications.

The consolidated financial report of the Group and the financial report of the Company comply with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) and interpretations adopted by the Internal Accounting Standards Board (IASB).  
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The Directors of ThinkSmart Limited (the “Company”) submit herewith the annual financial report of the Company and the 
Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2009.  In order to comply with the provisions of the Corporations Act 
2001, the directors report as follows: 
 
DIRECTORS 
The names and details of the Company’s directors in office during the financial year and until the date of this report are as 
follows. Directors were in office for this entire period unless otherwise stated. 
 
Names, qualifications, experience and special responsibilities 
 
Ned Montarello (Age 48) 
Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
 
Ned Montarello has over 20 years experience in the finance industry and joined the Board on 7 April 2000 and was appointed 
Chairman on the 22 May 2009. Mr Montarello founded ThinkSmart over 14 years ago and through this vehicle has been 
credited with elevating the Nano-Ticket rental market sector in Australia, receiving the Telstra and Australian Government’s 
Entrepreneur of the Year Award in 1998. He steered the expansion of the business into Europe in 2002/2003, establishing 
agreements with the UK’s largest electrical retailer, DSG International and the Halifax Bank of Scotland.  Following the 
establishment of a beachhead European operations centre in Manchester, England, Mr Montarello has driven its growth across 
Europe where it now also operates in Spain, France and Italy.  
 
David Griffiths (Age 59) 
B. Ec (Hons), M. Ec, D. Ec (Hon), FAICD 
Non-Executive Director 
 
David Griffiths joined the Board on 28 November 2000 and has served in a wide range of senior finance roles, most recently 
as Division Director of Macquarie Bank Limited and previously as Executive Chairman of Porter Western Limited. 
 
Mr Griffiths holds an Honours Degree in Economics from The University of Western Australia, a Masters Degree in 
Economics from Australian National University and is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. David also 
sits on the Board of the Perth International Arts Festival. Mr Griffiths is currently a deputy chairman of Automotive Holdings 
Group Limited and a non-executive director of Northern Iron Limited. In the past three years Mr Griffiths has been a director 
of the following listed companies: ARC Energy Limited, Great Southern Limited and Antaria Limited. 
 
Peter Mansell (Age 63) 
B.Com, LLB, H. Dip Tax, FAICD 
Non-Executive Director 
 
Peter Mansell joined the Board on 12 April 2007. He was appointed Chairman on the 7 May 2007 and resigned as Chairman 
on the 22 May 2009. Mr Mansell practiced as a business lawyer for over 40 years and has a wide range of experience in 
corporate matters. He was at various times the Freehills National Chairman (1995-2000), Managing Partner of the Perth office 
(1992-2002) and a member of the firm’s National Board (1989-2002). Mr Mansell is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors, having been President of the Western Australian division and having sat on its National Board from 2001 
to 2003.  He is currently a director of the following Australian listed companies: Oz Minerals Limited and Bunnings Property 
Management Limited (responsible entity for the Bunnings Warehouse Property Trust). In the past three years Mr Mansell has 
been a director of the following listed companies: Great Southern Limited, West Australian Newspaper Holdings Ltd and 
Zinifex Ltd. 
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Steven Penglis (Age 49) 
B. Juris and B. Law 
Non-Executive Director 
 
Steven Penglis joined the Board on 1 July 2000 and stepped down as Chairman on the 6 May 2007. Mr Penglis is a Partner 
at Freehills since 1987 and former Chairman of the Legal Practice Board of Western Australia. Mr Penglis specialises in the 
area of Corporate and Corporations Law Litigation, advising many public companies, including ThinkSmart, before his 
appointment to the Board.  He is a part-time Senior Member of the Commonwealth Administrative Appeals Tribunal; an 
elected member of the Legal Practice Board of Western Australia and former chairman; and an elected member of the 
Council of the Law Society of Western Australia. 
 
COMPANY SECRETARY 
Neil Barker B.Bus, FCPA 
Neil Barker is a Certified Practicing Accountant (Fellow) with over 25 years experience in banking and finance. Prior to 
joining ThinkSmart, Mr Barker was the Group Financial Controller of Alinta Limited, an Australian public listed company. 
Prior to joining Alinta, he was employed with the NAB Group in senior finance roles based in the UK and Australia. 
 
DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS 
The following table sets out the number of directors’ meetings held during the financial year. During the financial year 7 
Board meetings were held. 
 

Director Board Meetings Audit and Risk 
Committee Meetings 

Nomination and 
Remuneration 

Committee Meeting 
 A B A B A B
Peter Mansell 7 7 2 2 1 1 
David Griffiths 6 7 2 2 1 1 
Ned Montarello 7 7 2* - 1 1
Steven Penglis 7 7 1* - 1 1 

A – Number of meetings attended 
B – Number of meetings held during the time the director held office during the year 
* - Attendance by invitation from the Committee 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
This statement outlines the main corporate governance practices in place throughout the financial year, which comply with 
the ASX Corporate Governance Council recommendations, unless otherwise stated. 
 
Board of Directors 
Role of the Board 
The Board’s primary role is the protection and enhancement of long-term shareholder value. 
 
To fulfil this role, the Board has adopted a charter which establishes the relationship between the Board and management 
and describes their functions and responsibilities. The Board’s responsibilities, as set out in the Board Charter, include: 
• working with management to establish ThinkSmart’s strategic direction;  
• monitoring management and financial performance;  
• monitoring compliance and risk management;  
• reviewing procedures in place for appointment of senior management and monitoring of its performance and for 

succession planning; and  
• ensuring effective disclosure policies and procedures.  
 
Matters which are specifically reserved for the Board or its Committees under the Board Charter include: 
• appointment of a chair;  
• appointment and removal of the CEO;  
• appointment of directors to fill a vacancy or as additional directors;  
• establishment of Board Committees, their membership and delegated authorities;  
• approval of dividends;  
• development and review of corporate governance principles and policies;  
• approval of operational budgets, major capital expenditure, acquisitions and divestitures in excess of authority levels 

delegated to management;  
• calling of meetings of shareholders; and  
• any other specific matters nominated by the Board from time to time.  
 
It is also responsible for approving and monitoring financial and other reporting. Detail of the Board’s charter is located in 
the Company’s website (www.thinksmartworld.com). 
 
The Board, together with the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, determines the size and composition of the Board, 
subject to the terms of the constitution. 
 
The Board has delegated responsibility for operations and administration of the Company to the Chief Executive Officer 
and executive management. Responsibilities are delineated by formal authority delegations. 
 
Board process 
To assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the Board has established a Nomination and Remuneration Committee, as 
well as an Audit and Risk Committee. These Committees have written mandates and operating procedures, which are 
reviewed on a regular basis. The Board has also established framework for management of the Group including a system of 
internal control, a business risk management process and the establishment of appropriate ethical standards. 
 
Independent professional advice and access to company information 
Following consultation with the chairperson, directors may seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense. 
Generally, this advice will be available to all directors. 
 
Composition of the Board 
The names of the directors of the Company in the office at the date of this report are set out in the Directors’ report on page 
2 and 3 of this report. The composition of the Board is determined using the following principles: 
• The Board does not believe that it should establish a limit on tenure. While tenure limits can help to ensure that there 

are fresh ideas and viewpoints available to the Board, they hold the disadvantage of losing the contribution of directors 
who have been able to develop, over a period of time, increasing insight in the Company and its operation and, 
therefore, an increasing contribution to the Board as a whole. 
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• It is intended that the Board should comprise a majority of independent non-executive directors and comprise directors 
with a broad range of skills, expertise and experience from a diverse range of backgrounds. 

• The Board regularly reviews the independence of each director in light of the interests disclosed to the Board. 
 
On the 22 May 2009, Mr Mansell retired from his role as Chairman of the Board after leading the Company through a 
successful transition to being a publicly listed company, and Mr Montarello was subsequently appointed Executive Chairman. 
The Board acknowledges the ASX Recommendation that the Chairman be an Independent Director, however, the Board views 
the appointment of Mr Montarello as an advantage given his history of leadership in the Company and finance industry, and  
his clear incentive to maximize the interests of the Company. Mr Montarello founded the Company over 14 years ago, and has 
been involved in expanding the business through Australia and overseas. His experience and insights continue to be invaluable 
to the Group.  
 
The Board is conscious of the ASX Corporate Governance Recommendation stipulates that the roles of Chair and Chief 
Executive Officer should not be exercised by the same individual. Given the breadth of the Group’s operations and the 
Executive Chairman’s extensive business experience, the Board considers it appropriate that the Executive Chairman be 
considered the most senior executive overseeing and supervising the Group as well as managing the Group’s small executive 
team in regard to this.  
 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
The objective of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee is to help the Board ensure that ThinkSmart has a Board of an 
effective composition, size and the commitment to adequately discharge its responsibilities and duties, and to determine and 
review the compensation arrangements for the Directors and senior management team. 
 
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board’s and its Committees’ performance. On 
an annual basis: 
• Directors will provide written feedback in relation to the Board and its Committees against an agreed set of criteria and 

each Committee will do the same regarding its own performance;  
• Feedback will be collected by the chair of the Board, or an external facilitator, and discussed by the Board, with 

consideration being given as to whether any steps should be taken to improve performance of the Board or its 
Committees;  

• The CEO will also provide feedback from senior management in connection with any issues that may be relevant in the 
context of the Board performance review; and  

• Where appropriate to facilitate the review process, assistance may be obtained from third party advisers.  
 
The current members of the Committee are P Mansell (Chair), N Montarello, S Penglis and D Griffiths. 
 
The Committee will meet as often as the Committee members deem necessary in order to fulfil their role. However, it is 
intended that the Committee will normally meet at least annually. 
 
The Committee consists of a minimum of 3 members, majority being non-executive directors, and an independent director as 
chair. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee has a documented charter, approved by the Board, which is available on 
the website (www.thinksmartworld.com). 
 
Remuneration Report - Audited 
The remuneration report for 2009, as presented below, has been prepared for consideration by shareholders. The 
remuneration report is set out under the following main headings: 
 
A: Principles of compensation 
B: Directors’ and executive officers’ remuneration 
C: Service agreements 
D: Share-based compensation 
E: Bonus remuneration 
 
A. Principles of compensation - audited 
Remuneration is referred to as compensation throughout this report. Key management personnel have authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company and the Group, including directors of the 
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Company and other executives. Key management personnel comprise the directors of the Company and executives for the 
Company and the Group including the five most highly remunerated s300A executives. 
  
Compensation levels for key management personnel and secretaries of the Company, and key management personnel of the 
Group are competitively set with a view to: 
• Maintain alignment with shareholders’ interests; and 
• Ensure remuneration remains competitive to retain and attract talented people who are key to delivering sustained 

profitable growth of the Company 
 

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee obtains independent advice on the appropriateness of compensation packages 
of both the Company and the Group given trends in comparative companies both locally and internationally and the objectives 
of the Company’s compensation strategy. 
 
The compensation structures explained below are designed to attract suitably qualified candidates, reward the achievement of 
strategic objectives, and achieve the broader outcome of creation of value for shareholders. The compensation structures take 
into account: 
• the capability and experience of the key management personnel 
• the key management personnel’s ability to control the relevant segment/s’ performance 
• the Group’s performance 
 
Compensation packages include a mix of fixed and variable compensation and short- and long-term performance-based 
incentives. 
 
Linking Executive Remuneration to Group Performance 
The Directors of ThinkSmart Limited understand that linking executive remuneration to Group performance is a driver of 
performance. Since the Company raised equity and listed in 2007, it has delivered consistent growth in EBITDA before 
listing costs and basic EPS. 
 
The graph below demonstrates the Group's consistent growth in net profit after taxation measured on a like for like basis. 
The calculations for each year exclude on a net of tax basis amortisation costs, depreciation costs, and unrealised foreign 
exchange costs. In addition, non recurring items net of any applicable taxation are excluded being redundancy costs in 2009, 
US operating costs in 2008 and IPO costs in 2007.   
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In addition, the following partly franked dividends have been or will be paid: 
• 2.0 cents per share paid on 13 October 2008 
• 1.5 cents per share paid on 14 April 2009 
• 1.5 cents per share paid on 16 October 2009  
• 2.0 cents per share will be paid on 23 April 2010 
 
Consistent with the steady growth in performance, the level of Executives’ (including the Executive Chairman) 
remuneration has increased over this period. 
 
The Directors of ThinkSmart Limited consider that a variety of factors, including the broad economic environment, market 
sentiment and financial performance, contribute to the Company’s share price. In addition, there are no closely comparable 
companies that would provide a meaningful relative share price measure. As a result, the Executive remuneration, other 
than the long-term incentive, is linked to the Group’s financial performance, rather than the Company’s share price which 
has been: 
 

Date Per Ordinary Share 
30 June 2008 $0.82
31 December 2008 $0.19 
30 June 2009 $0.48 
31 December 2009 $0.90

 
Non-Executive Directors 
Fees and payments to Non-Executive Directors reflect the demands which are made on and the responsibilities of the Non-
Executive Directors. Non-Executive Directors’ fees and payments are reviewed annually by the Board. Non-Executive 
Directors do not receive Share Options.  
 
Non-Executive Director’s fees 
The non-executive directors shall be paid by way of fees for services the maximum aggregate sum as may be approved from 
time to time by ThinkSmart in general meeting. The fees include Director’s fee as well as Board Committee membership 
fee. The current maximum aggregate annual sum approved by shareholders at a previous general meeting is $600,000 
(2008: $600,000). Any change to that aggregate annual sum needs to be approved by the shareholders. The constitution also 
makes provision for ThinkSmart to pay all reasonable expenses of directors in attending meetings and carrying out their 
duties. 
 
Executive pay 
The Company’s remuneration is market competitive and aims to attract, retain and motivate high calibre employees who 
contribute to the sustained growth of the ThinkSmart business with a mix of the following four components: 
• base pay and benefits 
• short-term performance incentives (STIs) 
• long-term incentives through participation in the ThinkSmart Long Term Incentive Plan  
• other remuneration such as superannuation. 
 
The purpose of STIs is to make a significant contribution to the total reward package subject to meeting various targets linked 
to the Company’s business objectives. An incentivised reward structure is necessary to ensure a competitive package in 
Australian and global marketplace for executives. Incentives are designed to focus and motivate employees to achieve 
outcomes beyond the expectation of normal professional competence.  
 
Remuneration is reviewed annually. In reviewing each Executives’ salary, consideration is given to external competitiveness, 
position responsibilities and individual skills and experience. The STI component of Executive remuneration is based on 
annual performance targets and delivered in the form of cash. In 2009, the Company has also introduced a new Long Term 
Incentive Plan which recognises performance and behaviour that delivers sustainable long term shareholder value and seeks to 
align the interests of management with those of the shareholders.  
 
Base pay 
Executives are offered a competitive salary that comprises the components of base pay and benefits that reflects the applied 
professional competence of each Executive according to his/her knowledge, experience and accountabilities. Base pay for 
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Senior Executives is reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee to ensure the executive’s pay is competitive with the 
market. An executive’s pay is also reviewed on promotion. 
 
Short-term performance incentive 
Short-term performance incentives (STIs) vary according to individual contracts, however, for Executives they are broadly 
based as follows:  
• a component of the STI is linked to the individual performance of the executive (this is based on a number of factors, 

including performance against budgets, achievement of key performance indicators (KPIs) and other personal objectives) 
• a component of the STI is linked to the financial performance of the business or measured against budgets determined at 

the beginning of each financial year. 
 
Using various profit performance targets and personal performance objectives assessed against KPIs which are aligned with 
achievement of the Board’s strategic objectives, the Company ensures variable reward is only paid when value has been 
created for shareholders. For middle and lower level management, total STIs are linked to individual performance measures 
and also to the financial performance of the business. The STI is delivered in the form of cash. 
 
For the 2009 financial year, STI performance targets for Executives were based on the respective territories’ targets of 
Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation (“EBITDA”), penetration rate, application volumes, settlement 
volumes, Average Transaction Value and territory expansion targets. These targets were selected on the basis that the Group 
has, and is likely to have for sometime, a small number of experienced executives and ensuring that employment practices 
support and encourage continuity of team engagement with sustained and profitable growth of the Company. 
 
The short-term bonus payments may be adjusted up or down in line with under or over achievement against the target 
performance levels. This is at the discretion of the Senior Executives. The STI target annual payment is reviewed annually. 
Information on the STI is detailed on section E of the Remuneration Report. 
 
Long term incentive 
Long-term incentives to the Chief Executive Officer and certain senior employees were historically provided via the 
ThinkSmart Limited Executive Share Option Plan (“ESOP”) as a retention based reward. The Company has a pre-existing 
ESOP, as an equity-based long-term incentive, which was initiated before the Company was listed. Given the retention focus 
of these grants, vesting of the options is subject to service conditions and not linked to satisfaction of performance targets. 
There have been no retention based options granted since the Company’s listing in June 2007. 
 
During 2009, the Company completed a comprehensive review of current remuneration arrangements for senior executives to 
determine an appropriate structure to support the Company’s short term and long term business strategies and be aligned to 
corporate governance principles. The review included input from external consultants on comparative remuneration levels, 
trends and practices. As part of the review, the Board has agreed to reactivate the ESOP which recognises performance and 
behaviour that delivers sustainable long term shareholder value and seeks to align the interests of management with those of 
the shareholders. Consequently, options are issued to executives, and the ability to exercise the options is conditional on the 
Group achieving the following performance criteria: 
• 50% of options are subject to achievement of Earnings Per Share (EPS) performance condition; and 
• 50% of options are subject to Total Shareholder Return (TSR) performance condition. 
 
The EPS measure ensures greater focus on improved earnings, while the TSR measure ensures an alignment with shareholder 
expectations. 
 
Information on the pre-existing plan is detailed on section D of the Remuneration Report. 
 
B. Directors’ and executive officers’ remuneration - audited 
Amount of remuneration 
Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the Key Management Personnel (as defined in AASB 124 Related Party 
Disclosures) of ThinkSmart Limited and its subsidiaries are set out in the following tables. The cash bonuses are dependent on 
the satisfaction of performance conditions as set out in the section headed Short-term performance incentives above. 
 
The Key Management Personnel of ThinkSmart Limited are the Directors and certain executives that report directly to the 
Chief Executive Officer. This includes the five Group executives who received the highest remuneration for the year ended 31 
December 2009. 
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Key management personnel and other executives of the Group 
Details of the nature and amount of each major element of remuneration of each director of the Company, each of the five named Company executives and relevant Group 
executives who receive the highest remuneration and other key management personnel are: 
 

  

Post 
employment

Share-based 
payments

Salary & fee STI cash 
bonus

Non-monetary 
benefits

Total Superannuation 
benefits

Termination 
benefits

Options and 
rights

Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ % %
Directors

P Mansell 2009 64,599 -                -                  64,599 5,814 -                 -                 70,413 -                   -                    
2008 70,000 -                -                  70,000 6,300 -                 -                 76,300 -                   -                    

S Penglis 2009 55,000 -                -                  55,000 4,950 -                 -                 59,950 -                   -                    
2008 50,000 -                -                  50,000 4,500 -                 -                 54,500 -                   -                    

D Griffiths 2009 58,750 -                -                  58,750 5,288 -                 -                 64,038 -                   -                    
2008 50,000 -                -                  50,000 4,500 -                 -                 54,500 -                   -                    

N Montarello 2009 594,444 -                -                  594,444 40,318 -                 14,174 648,936 2% 2%
2008 537,545 -                -                  537,545 48,379 -                 8,775 594,699 1% 1%

Executives
N Barker 2009 321,330 10,000 -                  331,330 29,820 -                 8,847 369,997 5% 2%

2008 277,294 -                -                  277,294 24,956 -                 7,354 309,604 2% 2%
M Radotic 2009 233,922 34,692 20,653 289,267 21,410 -                 2,591 313,268 12% 1%

2008 277,093 20,000 3,068 300,160 13,853 -                 2,812 316,825 7% 1%
S McDonagh 2009 259,231 6,500 -                  265,731 23,916 -                 2,591 292,238 3% 1%

2008 112,500 -                -                  112,500 10,039 -                 -                 122,539 0% 0%
G Varma 2009 251,487 50,000 -                  301,487 27,134 -                 5,825 334,446 2% 2%

2008 231,826 18,000 -                  249,826 22,484 -                 9,974 282,284 4% 4%
G Parry 2009 248,790 19,824 11,686 280,300 12,439 -                 2,591 295,330 8% 1%

2008 259,962 32,723 12,099 304,783 12,998 -                 2,812 320,594 11% 1%

Total 2009 2,087,553 121,016 32,339 2,240,908 171,089 -                 36,619 2,448,616 6% 1%
Total 2008 1,866,219 70,723 15,166 1,952,108 148,009 -               31,727 2,131,845 5% 1%

Executive Director

Short Term Proportion of 
remuneration 
performance 

related

Value of 
options as 

proportion of 
remuneration

Non-Executive Directors
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The following are executives who are considered to be Key Management Personnel of the Group: 
• N Barker (Group Chief Operating Officer, ThinkSmart Ltd) 
• S McDonagh (Executive General Manager, RentSmart Unit Trust)  
• M Radotic (General Manager Sales and Marketing - Continental Europe, ThinkSmart Europe Ltd) 
• G Varma (Group Chief Information Officer, ThinkSmart Ltd) 
• G Parry (Managing Director - UK, RentSmart Limited) 

 
C. Service agreements - audited 
Service agreements can provide for the provision of short-term performance incentives, eligibility for the ThinkSmart ESOP, 
other benefits including the use of a Company motor vehicle, tax advisory fees, payment of benefits forgone at a previous 
employer, relocation, living, tax equalisation, travel and accommodation expenses whilst an executive is required to live away 
from their normal place of residence. 
 
Only remuneration and other terms of employment for the Managing Director are formalised in a service agreement. The 
Managing Director’s employment agreement has been extended to a fixed term of 3 years to 28 August 2012. All other 
employment agreements are unlimited in term but capable of termination with one to three months’ notice by either the 
Company or the executive. The Company can make a payment in lieu of notice.  
 
In the event of retrenchment, the executives listed in the table on page 9 are entitled to the payment provided for in the service 
agreement, where applicable. The employment of the executives may be terminated by the Company without notice by 
payment in lieu of notice. 
 
The service agreements also contain confidentiality and restraint of trade clauses. 
 
D. Share Based Compensation - audited 
All options refer to options over ordinary shares of ThinkSmart Limited, which are exercisable on a one-for-one basis under 
the Employee Share Options Plan (“ESOP”). 
 
Options and rights over equity instruments granted as compensation – audited 
Details on options over ordinary shares in the Company that were granted as compensation to each key management person 
during the reporting period and details on options that vested during the reporting period are as follows: 
 

 No of options 
granted 

during 2009 

Grant date Fair value 
per option at 

grant date 
($) 

Exercise 
price per 

option 
($) 

Expiry date No of options 
vested during 

2009 

Directors   
N Montarello 1,000,000 30/06/2009 0.0683 0.62 31/12/2013 - 
       
Executives   
N Barker 500,000 30/06/2009 0.0683 0.62 31/12/2013 - 
M Radotic 300,000 30/06/2009 0.0683 0.62 31/12/2013 - 
S McDonagh 300,000 30/06/2009 0.0683 0.62 31/12/2013 -
G Varma 150,000 30/06/2009 0.0683 0.62 31/12/2013 - 
G Parry 300,000 30/06/2009 0.0683 0.62 31/12/2013 - 
   

 
No options are granted since the end of the financial year. The options are provided at no cost to the recipients. 
 
Modification of terms of equity-settled share-based payment transactions - audited 
No terms of equity-settled share-based payment transactions (including options and rights granted as compensation to a key 
management person) have been altered or modified by the issuing entity during the reporting period or the prior period. 
 
Exercise of options granted as compensation - audited 
During the reporting period, there were no shares issued as a result of the exercise of options previously granted as 
compensation. 
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Analysis of options and rights over equity instruments granted as compensation - audited 
Details of vesting profiles of the options granted as remuneration to each director of the Company and each of the five named 
Company executives and relevant Group executives and other key management personnel are detailed below. 
 

  Options granted     
 

Number of 
shares Grant Date 

% vested in 
year 

% forfeited 
in year (a) 

Financial year 
in which grant 

vest 
Director      
N Montarello 1,400,000 28/08/2006 100% -% 28/08/2009 
 1,000,000 30/06/2009 -% -% 01/01/2012 
      
Executives   
N Barker *280,000 05/01/2006 33% -% 01/01/2009 
    160,000  17/04/2007 100% -% 01/01/2009 
    120,000  17/04/2007 100% -% 01/01/2009 
 500,000 30/06/2009 -% -% 01/01/2012 
M Radotic    160,000  17/04/2007 100% -% 01/01/2009 
    120,000  17/04/2007 100% -% 01/01/2009 
 300,000 30/06/2009 -% -% 01/01/2012 
S McDonagh 300,000 30/06/2009 -% -% 01/01/2012 
G Varma *280,000 05/01/2006 33% -% 01/01/2009 
 150,000 30/06/2009 -% -% 01/01/2012 
G Parry    160,000  17/04/2007 100% -% 01/01/2009 
    120,000  17/04/2007 100% -% 01/01/2009 
 300,000 30/06/2009 -% -% 01/01/2012 

(a) The % forfeited in the year represents the reduction from the maximum number of options available to vest due to the 
highest level performance criteria not being achieved. 

*: Option series vest equally over 3 years on 1 January 2008, 2009 and 2010. 
 
Analysis of movement of options - audited 
The movement during the reporting period, by value of options over ordinary shares in the Company held by each Company 
director and each of the five named Company executives and relevant Group executives and other key management personnel 
is detailed below. 
 

  
Granted in year 

$ (a) 
Exercised in 

year $ (b) 
Lapsed in 
year $ (c ) 

Directors    
N Montarello 68,300 - - 
    
Executives  
N Barker 34,150 - - 
M Radotic 20,490 - - 
S McDonagh 20,490 - - 
G Varma 10,245 - - 
G Parry 20,490 - - 
    
 174,165 - - 

(a) The value of options granted in the year is the fair value of the options calculated at grant date using a binominal option-
pricing model. The total value of the options granted is included in the table above. This amount is allocated to 
remuneration over the vesting period. 
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(b) The value of options exercised during the year is calculated as the market price of shares of the Company on the Australian 
Securities Exchange as at close of trading on the date the options were exercised after deducting the price paid to exercise 
the option. 

(c) The value of the options that lapsed during the year represents the benefit forgone and is calculated at the date the option 
lapsed using a binominal option-pricing model with no adjustments for whether the performance criteria had been 
achieved. In 2009, lapsed options have nil value as they were out of the money when they expired. 

 
E. Bonus remuneration - audited 
Details of the vesting profile of the short-term incentive cash bonuses awarded as remuneration to each director of the 
Company, each of the five named Company executives and relevant Group executives and other key management personnel 
are detailed below: 
 

 Short term incentive bonus 
 Included in 

remuneration 
$ (a) 

% vested in 
year 

% forfeited in 
year 
(b) 

Directors    
N Montarello - - -
    
Executives    
N Barker 10,000 9% 91% 
S McDonagh 6,500 26% 74% 
M Radotic 34,692 29% 71% 
G Varma 50,000 100% - 
G Parry 19,824 21% 79% 

(a) Amounts included in remuneration for the financial year represent the amount that vested in the financial year based on 
achievement of personal goals and satisfaction of specified performance criteria. No amounts vest in future financial 
years in respect of the bonus schemes for the 2009 financial year. 

(b) The amounts forfeited are due to the performance or service criteria not being met in relation to the current financial year. 
 
Audit and Risk Committee 
The Audit and Risk Committee has a documented charter, approved by the Board, which is available on the website 
(www.thinksmartworld.com). All members must be non-executive directors with a majority being independent. The 
Chairperson may not be the Chairperson of the Board. The Committee advises on the establishment and maintenance of a 
framework of internal control and appropriate ethical standards for the management of the Group. 
 
The members of the Audit Committee during the year were non-executive directors, and are D Griffiths (Chair) and P 
Mansell.  
 
The Committee’s primary roles are: 
• to assist the Board in relation to the reporting of financial information; 
• the appropriate application and amendment of accounting policies; 
• the appointment, independence and remuneration of the external auditor; and 
• to provide a link between the external auditors, the Board and management of the Company. 
 
The Committee will meet as often as the Committee members deem necessary in order to fulfil their role. The internal and 
external auditors, CEO and CFO, are invited to the Audit Committee meetings at the discretion of the Committee. The 
external auditor met with the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors twice during the year without management being 
present. 
 
Risk management 
The Committee’s specific function with respect to risk management is to review and report to the Board that: 
• the Company’s ongoing risk management program effectively identifies all areas of potential risk; 
• adequate policies and procedures have been designed and implemented to manage identified risks; 
• a regular program of audits is undertaken to test the adequacy of and compliance with prescribed policies; and 
• proper remedial action is undertaken to redress areas of weakness. 
 
The risk management policy can be found on the Company’s website (www.thinksmartworld.com). 
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Internal audit 
The Committee has the responsibility of:  
• reviewing the internal auditor’s objectives, competence and resourcing (including determining whether the internal audit 

function is to be provided by an internal or external party provider);  
• ensuring an appropriate program of internal audit activity is conducted each financial year; 
• reviewing and monitoring the progress of an internal audit and work program (without the presence of management);  
• overseeing the coordination of the internal and external audit; and 
• evaluating and critiquing management’s responsiveness to internal auditor’s finding and recommendations.  
 
Financial reporting 
The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer have declared in writing to the Board that the Company’s 
financial reports are founded on a sound system of risk management and internal compliance and control which implements 
the policies adopted by the Board, and is operating efficiently and effectively in all material aspects. 
 
Environmental regulation 
The Group’s operations are not subject to any significant environmental regulation under both Commonwealth and State 
legislation in relation to its activities. 
 
Assessment of effectiveness of risk management 
During the year, the Group has introduced the role of internal auditors to assist the Board in ensuring compliance with 
internal controls and risk management plans by regularly reviewing the effectiveness of the above-mentioned compliance 
and control systems. The Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for approving the internal audit plan to be conducted 
each financial year and for the scope of the work to be performed. An independent review to assess and evaluate the quality 
of the internal audit function is undertaken once every two years. The Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for 
recommending to the Board the appointment and dismissal of the internal auditor. 
 
Ethical standards 
All directors, managers and employees are expected to act with the utmost integrity and objectivity, striving at all times to 
enhance the reputation and performance of the Group. Every employee has a nominated supervisor to whom they may refer 
any issues arising from their employment.  
 
Conflict of interest 
Directors must keep the Board advised, on an ongoing basis, of any interest that could potentially conflict with those of the 
Company. The Board has developed procedures to assist directors to disclose potential conflicts of interest. 
 
Where the Board believes that a significant conflict exists for a director on a Board matter, the director concerned does not 
receive the relevant Board papers and is not present at the meeting whilst the item is considered. Details of director related 
entity transactions with the Company and the Group are set out in note 34 to the financial statements. 
 
Code of conduct 
ThinkSmart has developed a Code of Conduct which states ThinkSmart’s and its employees’ commitment to the conduct of 
its business with employees, customers, funders, retailers and other external parties. 
 
The Code is directed at maintaining high ethical standards and integrity. Employees are expected to adhere to ThinkSmart’s 
policies, perform their duties diligently, properly use company resources, protect confidential information and avoid 
conflicts of interest. 
 
The Code sets out the reporting lines where there is a potential breach of the Code, ThinkSmart’s commitment to the Code 
and the consequences of breaching the Code. The Code is acknowledged by all employees.  
 
Trading in general Company securities by directors and employees 
ThinkSmart’s Guidelines for Dealing in Securities explain and reinforce the Corporations Act 2001 requirements relating to 
insider trading. The Guidelines are summarised below. 
 
The Guidelines apply to all directors and employees of the ThinkSmart group, and their associates (“Relevant Persons”). 
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The Guidelines expressly prohibit Relevant Persons buying or selling ThinkSmart securities where the Relevant Person or 
ThinkSmart is in possession of price sensitive or ‘inside’ information. 
 
The Guidelines establish a ‘window period’, where, generally, Relevant Persons may buy or sell ThinkSmart’s securities on 
ASX in the period from 31 days from the day following: 
• the announcement of half-yearly results;  
• the announcement of annual results; or  
• the holding of the annual general meeting,  

provided they are not in possession of inside information. Outside the window period, Relevant Persons must receive 
clearance for any proposed dealing in ThinkSmart’s securities on ASX as follows: 

• a director must receive approval from the Chair of the Board;  
• the Chair must receive approval from the Board or the most senior director;  
• executives and senior management must receive approval from the CEO; and  
• all other Relevant persons must receive approval from the Company Secretary.  

The Guidelines also prohibit short term dealing (buying and selling within 3 months) in ThinkSmart securities by Relevant 
Persons.  

Disclosure Policy 
ThinkSmart understands its obligations under the ASX Listing Rules and Corporations Act 2001 to keep the market fully 
informed of information which may have a material effect on the price or value of ThinkSmart’s securities. ThinkSmart has 
adopted a Disclosure Policy which sets out its policy to strictly comply with the continuous disclosure requirements.  
 
ThinkSmart’s Disclosure Policy is summarised below.  
• The Company Secretary has the primary responsibility for all communication with the ASX in relation to Listing Rule 

matters including lodging announcements with ASX. The Company Secretary is also responsible for ensuring senior 
management is aware of the Disclosure Policy and that the Disclosure Policy is updated.  

• If management becomes aware of any information at any time that should be considered for release to the market, it 
must be reported immediately to the CEO, or the Group CFO / Company Secretary.  

• Operating and divisional heads and group functional heads must ensure they have appropriate procedures in place 
within their areas of responsibility to ensure that all relevant information is reported to them so it can be dealt with in 
accordance with the Disclosure Policy.  

 
Communication with shareholders 
The Board provides shareholders with information using a comprehensive Continuous Disclosure Policy which includes 
identifying matters that may have a material effect on the price of the Company’s securities, notifying them to the ASX, 
posting them on the Company’s website, and issuing media releases.  
 
In summary, the Continuous Disclosure Policy operates as follows: 
• Information is communicated to shareholders through ASX announcements, the annual report, annual general meeting 

and half year and full year results announcements.  
• Shareholders are able to access information, including media releases, key policies and the terms of reference of the 

Board Committees through ThinkSmart’s website. All relevant ASX announcements will be posted on ThinkSmart’s 
website as soon as they have been released to ASX.  

• ThinkSmart encourages participation of shareholders at its annual general meeting. The external auditor will attend the 
annual general meeting and be available to answer shareholder questions about the conduct of the audit and the 
preparation and content of the auditor’s report. 

  
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
The Group’s principal activity in the course of the financial year was to arrange finance for the renting of equipment in 
Australia and Europe.  
 
There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the year. 
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OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW 
The after tax net profit of the consolidated entity, being ThinkSmart Limited and its controlled entities (the “Group” or 
“consolidated entity”), for the year was $5,171,776 (2008: $3,210,752). 
 
The period has seen the Group improve underlying EBITDA by 8%, from $11.3m to $12.2m, or 15% if the impact of the 
strengthening Australian dollar on translation of offshore earnings is ignored. The Australian operations has increased its 
EBITDA contribution by 62% from 6% higher settled volumes and a 19% reduction in operating costs, whilst increasing 
revenue by 14%. Operating efficiencies enabled by the successful implementation of the in-store, web based QuickSmart 
application and approval system were delivered in the second half of the year following the system rollout in March 2009. 
Australian application volumes grew 10% in the second half of 2009 and operating costs decreased 20% in the same period. 
The UK operations improved its EBITDA performance by 5% despite a 39% reduction in settled volumes by growing 
inertia revenues by 20% and reducing operating expenses by 14%. 
 
The Group has increased its distribution channels in existing markets through signing of retail operating agreements in 
Spain with leading European retailer FNAC and Phone House. In Australia we have extended the tenor of existing long 
term relationships with JB HiFi and Officeworks. The core rental product has been enhanced to include free service based 
benefits to customers and the evolution of the rental product is expected to increase market share in 2010. 
 
Consolidation continues in Australia, UK and Spain with post-rental revenue streams (“inertia”) contributing an increasing 
share of profitability. Against soft retail trading conditions in Europe, Group application volumes have reduced by 8% year 
on year, the impact being lessened as a result of improved penetration through existing retail relationships in Europe. 
 
SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS  
During the financial year there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the company other than that referred to 
in the financial statements or notes thereto.  
 
DIVIDEND 
Dividend paid or declared by the Company to members since the end of the previous financial year were: 
 

 
Cents per 

share 
Total 

amount 
Franked/ 

unfranked 
Date of payment 

Declared and paid during the year 2009     

Final 2008 ordinary 1.5 1,450,341 Franked 14 April 2009 

Interim 2009 ordinary 1.5 1,450,341 Franked 16 October 2009 

     

Declared after year end     
After the balance sheet date, the following dividends were proposed by the directors. The dividends have not been 
provided and there are no income tax consequences. 

  

Final 2009 ordinary 2.0 1,933,788 Franked 23 April 2010 
 
The financial effect of these dividends has not been brought to account in the financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2009 and will be recognised in subsequent financial reports. 
 
Dividends have been dealt within the financial report as: 
 

 Note Total amount ($) 

Declared and paid during the year 2009   

Final 2008 ordinary 22(c) 1,450,341 

Interim 2009 ordinary 22(c) 1,450,341 
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE 
There has not been any matter or circumstance that has arisen since the end of the financial year that has significantly 
affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the consolidated entity, the results of those operations, or the state of 
affairs of the consolidated entity in future financial periods. 
 
LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS 
The Group will continue to execute its strategic plan to grow revenue by increasing business volumes through existing retail 
partnerships in UK, Spain, Italy, France Australia and New Zealand. In mainland Europe the Group will pursue a multi-
channel retailer model akin to the Australian business which should deliver market share gains in selected territories.  
 
Further information about likely developments in the operations of the Group and the expected results of those operations in 
future financial years has not been included in this report because disclosure of the information would be likely to result in 
unreasonable prejudice to the Group. 
 
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS 
The relevant interests of each director in the shares and options over such instruments issued by the companies within the 
Group and other related bodies corporate, as notified by the directors to the Australian Stock Exchange in accordance with 
s205G(1) of the Corporations Act 2001, at the date of this report is as follows: 
 

 ThinkSmart Limited 

 
Number of ordinary 

shares 

Number of options 
granted over ordinary 

shares 

N Montarello 17,404,565 2,400,000 
P Mansell 1,550,000 - 
S Penglis 1,060,500 - 
D Griffiths 1,800,000 -

 
SHARE OPTIONS 
Options granted to directors and officers of the Company 
During or since the end of the financial year, the Company granted options for no consideration over unissued ordinary 
shares in the Company to the following directors and to the following of the five most highly remunerated officers of the 
Company as part of their remuneration: 
 

 No of options 
granted 

Exercise price Expiry date 

Directors    
N Montarello 1,000,000 $0.62 31/12/2013
    
Executives    
N Barker 500,000 $0.62 31/12/2013 
M Radotic 300,000 $0.62 31/12/2013 
S McDonagh 300,000 $0.62 31/12/2013 
G Varma 150,000 $0.62 31/12/2013 
G Parry 300,000 $0.62 31/12/2013 

 
All options were granted during the financial year. No options have been granted since the end of the financial year. 
 
Shares issued as a result of the exercise of options 
During or since the end of the year, the Company has issued no ordinary shares as a result of the exercise of options. 
 
Unissued shares under options 
At the date of this report, unissued ordinary shares of the Company under option are: 
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Number of shares 
under option 

Exercise price 
of options 

Expiry date of 
options 

1,400,000 $1.63 27 August 2010 
1,026,667 $0.63 31 December 2010 

480,000 $1.38 31 December 2011 
480,000 $3.00 31 December 2011 

3,350,000 $0.62 31 December 2013 
 
All options expire on the earlier of their expiry date or termination of the employee’s employment. Further details are 
included in the remuneration report on page 5 to 12. 
 
These options do not entitle the holder to participate in any share issue of the Company or any other body corporate. 
 
INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 
In accordance to the Company’s constitution, the Company must indemnify its directors and officers on a full indemnity 
basis and to the full extent permitted by law against all liabilities incurred by the directors and officers in their capacity as 
an officer of the Company or of a related body corporate. 
 
During the financial year, the company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the directors of the company (as 
named above), the company secretary and all executive officers of the company and of any related body corporate against a 
liability incurred as such a director, secretary or executive officer to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The 
contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium. 
 
The company has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor 
of the company or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred by such an officer or director. 
 
NON-AUDIT SERVICES 
During the year KPMG, the Company auditor, has performed certain other services in addition to their statutory duties. 
 
The Board has considered the non-audit services provided during the year by the auditor and in accordance with written 
advice provided by resolution of the Audit Committee, is satisfied that the provision of those non-audit services during the 
year by the auditors is compatible with, and did not compromise, the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations 
Act 2001 for the following reasons: 
• All non-audit services are subject to the corporate governance procedures adopted by the Company and have been 

reviewed by the Audit Committee to ensure they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and 
• The non-audit services provided do not undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in 

APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, as they did not involve reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own 
work, acting in a management or decision making capacity for the Company, acting as an advocate for the Company or 
jointly sharing risks and rewards. 

 
Details of the amounts paid to the auditor of the Group, KPMG, and its related practices for audit and non-audit services 
provided during the year are set out in note 27. 
 
 
AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
The auditor’s independence declaration which forms part of this report, is included in page 19 of the financial report. 
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Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to s.298 (2) of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
On behalf of the Directors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
N Montarello 
Director 
Perth, 19 February 2010 
 
 
 





THINKSMART LIMITED 
DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION 
 

 20 

 
 
1. In the opinion of the Directors of ThinkSmart Limited (the “Company”): 

 
a) The financial statements and notes and the remuneration disclosures that are designated as audited in the 

Remuneration report of the Directors’ report, set out on pages 2 to 75, are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including: 

 
I. Giving a true and fair view of the Company’s and the Group’s financial position as at 31 December 

2009 and of their performance, for the financial year ended on that date; and 
 

II. Complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 
Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001; 

 
b) The financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in note 2; 

 
c) There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 

become due and payable. 
 
2. The directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from 

the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer for the financial year ended 31 December 2009. 
 
 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
N Montarello 
Director 
Perth, 19 February 2010 
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Statements of Comprehensive Income 
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2009 

 
 

Notes Consolidated Company 
  2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 
2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 
Revenue  6(a) 36,756,819 38,898,513 1,955,532 3,300,000 
Employee benefits expense 6(b) (10,522,389) (12,713,514) - - 
Sales and marketing costs  (6,880,869) (8,857,676) (9,663) (8,218) 
Occupancy costs  (1,043,357) (1,144,374) - - 
Communication costs  (590,522) (737,612) (2,124) (1,157) 
Doubtful and bad debts  (244,175) (233,259) - - 
Legal and consulting costs   (686,886) (1,753,997) (141,279) (220,425) 
Credit bureau costs  (475,184) (480,204) - - 
Corporate development costs   (2,046,496) (1,816,118) (81,442) (78,671) 
Insurance costs  (150,355) (91,092) (37,536) (13,148) 
Other expenses  6(f) (2,234,746) (2,170,589) (72,632) (51,057) 
EBITDA before capital listing costs 
and restructuring costs  11,881,840 8,900,079 1,610,856 2,927,324 
Finance (costs)/benefits 6(e) (992,980) (475,354) 1,556,370 1,731,091 
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain  (603,651) (88,148) - - 
Depreciation expense 6(c) (555,159) (409,686) - - 
EBTA before capital listing costs and 
restructuring costs 9,730,050 7,926,890 3,167,226 4,658,415
Amortisation of intangibles 6(d) (2,096,726) (1,809,768) - - 
Restructuring costs 6(g) - (416,184) - - 
Profit before Tax   7,633,324 5,700,938 3,167,226 4,658,415 
Income tax (expense)/benefit 7 (2,461,548) (2,490,186) (1,395,124) (1,246,757) 
Profit from continuing operations 5,171,776 3,210,752 1,772,102 3,411,658
      
Other comprehensive income      
Foreign currency translation differences 
for foreign operations  (1,065,883) (1,405,155) - - 
Other comprehensive income for the 
period, net of income tax  (1,065,883) (1,405,155) - - 
Total comprehensive income for the 
period, net of income tax  4,105,893 1,805,597 1,772,102 3,411,658 
  
Earnings per share  
Basic (cents per share) 33 5.35 3.34   
Diluted (cents per share) 33 5.26 3.22  
  

 
 
The attached notes form an integral part of these Income Statements 
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Balance Sheets 
As At 31 December 2009 

 
  Consolidated Company 
 

Notes
2009 
$ 

2008 
$ 

2009 
$ 

2008 
$ 

Current Assets      
Cash and cash equivalents 24(a) 5,468,171 4,547,371 15,426 596,205 
Trade and other receivables 8 1,740,369 1,624,270 - - 
Inventories 9 74,586 65,520 - - 
Prepayment 10 4,315,120 4,509,891 53,526 14,164 
Other 11 310,615 193,370 157 1,417 
Total Current Assets  11,908,861 10,940,422 69,109 611,786 
Non-Current Assets      
Trade and other receivables 8 731,609 210,384 - - 
Prepayment 12 2,953,610 3,648,041 - - 
Plant and equipment 13 1,091,334 1,260,955 - - 
Other financial assets 14 - - 23,324,755 23,913,494 
Intangibles 15 3,775,984 4,552,680 - - 
Goodwill 16 4,177,746 4,861,551 - - 
Deferred tax assets 7 100,550 965,568 223,606 1,079,252 

Total Non-Current Assets  12,830,833 15,499,179 23,548,361 24,992,746 

Total Assets  24,739,694 26,439,601 23,617,470 25,604,532 

Current Liabilities      
Trade and other payables 18 3,549,365 4,791,522 96,689 42,229 
Borrowings 19 2,494,222 2,575,440 2,490,679 2,459,304 
Tax payable  333,344 1,465,564 (112,476) 884,425 
Total Current Liabilities  6,376,931 8,832,526 2,474,892 3,385,958 
Non-Current Liabilities      
Borrowings 20 - - - - 
Deferred tax liability 7 198,387 662,343 - - 
Other 21 493 38,648 - - 
Total Non-Current Liabilities  198,880 700,991 - - 
Total Liabilities  6,575,811 9,533,517 2,474,892 3,385,958 
Net (Liabilities)/Assets  18,163,883 16,906,084 21,142,578 22,218,574 
Equity/(Deficiency)      
Issued Capital 22 23,614,091 23,614,091 23,614,091 23,614,091 
Reserves 23 (2,834,607) (1,821,312) 199,726 147,142 
Accumulated losses  (2,615,601) (4,886,695) (2,671,239) (1,542,659) 
Total Equity  18,163,883 16,906,084 21,142,578 22,218,574 

 
 
The attached notes form an integral part of these Balance Sheets 
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Statements of Changes in Equity 

for the financial year ended 31 December 2009 
 

Consolidated 
Fully paid 
ordinary 

shares

Equity 
settled 

employee 
benefits 
reserve

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Accumulated 
Losses 

Attributable 
to equity 

holders of the 
parent

 $ $ $ $ $

Balance at 1 January 2008 22,242,200 92,142 (563,299) (6,163,659) 15,607,384
Exchange differences arising on 
translation of foreign operations - - (1,405,155) - (1,405,155)
Net income recognised directly in 
equity - - (1,405,155) - (1,405,155)

Profit for the period - - - 3,210,752 3,210,752

Total comprehensive income - - (1,405,155) 3,210,752 1,805,597

Dividend paid - - - (1,933,788) (1,933,788)

Recognition of share-based payments - 55,000 - - 55,000
Adjustment for tax on capitalised 
IPO cost 74,428 - - - 74,428
Issue of shares under share option 
plan 1,297,463 - - - 1,297,463

Balance at 31 December 2008 23,614,091 147,142 (1,968,454) (4,886,695) 16,906,084

  

Balance at 1 January 2009 23,614,091 147,142 (1,968,454) (4,886,695) 16,906,084
Exchange differences arising on 
translation of foreign operations - - (1,065,879) - (1,065,879)
Net income recognised directly in 
equity - - (1,065,879) - (1,065,879)

Profit for the period - - - 5,171,776 5,171,776

Total comprehensive income - - (1,065,879) 5,171,776 4,105,897

Dividend paid - - - (2,900,682) (2,900,682)

Recognition of share-based payments - 52,584 - - 52,584

Balance at 31 December 2009 23,614,091 199,726 (3,034,333) (2,615,601) 18,163,883

  
 
 
The attached notes form an integral part of these Statements of Changes in Equity. 
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Statements of Changes in Equity  
for the financial year ended 31 December 2009 

 

Company 
Fully paid 
ordinary 

shares

Equity settled 
employee 
benefits 
reserve

Accumulated 
Losses Total

$ $ $ $ 

     
Balance at 1 January 2008 22,242,200 92,142 (3,020,529) 19,313,813 
Profit for the period - - 3,411,658 3,411,658 
Total comprehensive income - - 3,411,658 3,411,658 
Dividend payment - - (1,933,788) (1,933,788) 
Recognition of share-based payments - 55,000 - 55,000 
Adjustment for tax on capitalised IPO cost 74,428 - - 74,428 
Issue of shares under share option plan 1,297,463 - - 1,297,463 
Balance at 31 December 2008 23,614,091 147,142 (1,542,659) 22,218,574 

     
     
Balance at 1 January 2009 23,614,091 147,142 (1,542,659) 22,218,574 
Profit for the period - - 1,772,102 1,772,102 
Total comprehensive income - - 1,772,102 1,772,102 
Dividend payment - - (2,900,682) (2,900,682) 
Recognition of share-based payments - 52,584 - 52,584 
Balance at 31 December 2009 23,614,091 199,726 (2,671,239) 21,142,578 

     
 
 
The attached notes form an integral part of these Statements of Changes in Equity. 
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Cash Flow Statements 
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2009 

 
  Consolidated Company 
 

Notes 
2009 
$ 

2008 
$ 

2009 
$ 

2008 
$ 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities      
Receipts from customers  37,008,698 37,009,472 - - 
Payments to suppliers and employees  (27,195,464) (31,947,826) (423,909) (293,441) 
Interest received  67,339 161,787 7,642 24,191 

Interest paid 
 

(112,694) (58,605) (109,718) (40,696) 
Income tax paid  (2,451,419) (2,298,105) (1,400,092) (766,106) 
Net cash from operating activities 24(b) 7,316,460 2,866,723 (1,926,077) (1,076,052) 
      
Cash Flows from Investing Activities      
Payments for plant and equipment  (464,937) (1,209,852) - - 
Payment for intangible assets  (1,526,957) (1,379,907) - - 
Net cash from (used in) investing activities  (1,991,894) (2,589,760) - - 
      
Cash Flows from Financing Activities      
Hire purchase and lease finance repaid  (112,593) 16,416 - - 
Finance charges  (930,066) (588,326) (64,674) (44,326) 
Borrowings from/(to) subsidiary  - - 4,310,654 (632,357) 
Proceeds from issue of shares  - 1,297,463 - 1,297,463 
Proceeds of borrowings  - 2,459,304 - 2,459,304 
Repayment of borrowings  - (2,039,891) - - 
Dividend paid  (2,900,682) (1,933,788) (2,900,682) (1,933,788) 
Net cash from (used in) financing activities  (3,943,341) (788,823) 1,345,298 1,146,296 
      
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash 
equivalents 

 
1,381,225 (511,859) (580,779) 70,244 

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on 
cash held 

 
(460,425) - - - 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 
the financial year 

 
4,547,371 5,059,230 596,205 525,961 

Net cash and cash equivalents at the end of 
the financial year 24(a) 5,468,171 4,547,371 15,426 596,205 

 
 
The attached notes form an integral part of these Cash Flow Statements 
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1. General Information 
 
ThinkSmart Limited (the “Company”) is a publicly listed company, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. The 
consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 31 December 2009 comprise of the Company 
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”). The Group’s principal activity is to arrange finance for renting of equipment in Australia, 
New Zealand and Europe. 
 
 
2. Basis of Preparation 
 
a) Statement of compliance 
The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with the Australian 
Accounting Standards (AASBs) (including Australian Interpretations) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001. The consolidated financial report of the Group and the financial report of 
the Company comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and interpretations adopted by the Internal 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB).   
  
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Directors on 19 February 2010. 
 
b) Basis of measurement 
The financial report has been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for the revaluation of certain non-current assets 
and financial instruments. Cost is based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for assets. All amounts are 
presented in Australian Dollars unless otherwise noted. 
 
c) Functional and presentation currency 
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. 
 
d) Changes in accounting policies 
Starting as of 1 January 2009, the Group has changed its accounting policies in the following areas: 
• Determination and presentation of operating segments – Note 3(y) 
• Presentation of financial statements – Including the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
• Business combination – Note 3(b) 
 
 
3. Significant Accounting Policies 
 
The following significant policies have been consistently applied to all periods presented in these consolidated financial 
statements, and have been consistently applied by group entities. 
 
a) Basis of Consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the company and entities controlled by the 
company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved when the company has the power to govern the financial and operating 
policies of an entity so as to obtain the benefits from its activities. The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during 
the year are included in the consolidated income statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date 
of disposal, as appropriate. The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align them with 
the policies adopted by the Group. 
 
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line 
with those by other members of the Group.  All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses are eliminated in full 
on consolidation.  
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b) Business Combinations 
Change in accounting policy 
The Group has adopted revised AASB 3 Business Combinations (2008) and amended AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements (2008) for business combinations occurring in the financial year starting 1 January 2009. All business 
combinations occurring on or after 1 January 2009 are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. The change in 
accounting policy is applied prospectively and has no material impact on earnings per share. 
 
For every business combination, the Group identifies the acquirer, which is the combining entity that obtains control of the 
other combining entities or businesses. Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to 
obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, the Group takes into consideration potential voting rights that 
currently are exercisable. The acquisition date is the date on which control is transferred to the acquirer. Judgement is applied 
in determining the acquisition date and determining whether control is transferred from one party to another. 
 
Measuring goodwill 
The Group measures goodwill as the fair value of consideration transferred including the recognised amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree, less the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed, all measured as of the acquisition date. 
 
Consideration transferred includes the fair values of the asset transferred, liabilities incurred by the Group to the previous 
owners of the acquiree, and equity interests issued by the Group. Consideration transferred also includes the fair value of any 
contingent consideration and share-based payment awards of the acquiree that are replaced mandatorily in the business 
combination (see below).  
 
Share-based payment awards 
When share-based payment awards exchanges (replacement awards) for awards held by acquiree’s employees (acquiree’s 
awards) relate to past services, then a part of the market-based measure of the awards replaced is included in the 
consideration transferred. If they require future services, then the difference between the amount included in consideration 
transferred and the market-based measure of the replacement awards is treated as post-combination compensation cost. 
 
Contingent liabilities 
A contingent liability of the acquiree is assumed in a business combination only if such a liability represents a present 
obligation and arises from a past event, and its fair value can be measured reliably. 
 
Non-controlling interest 
The group measures any non-controlling interest at its proportionate interest in the identifiable net assets of the acquiree.  
 
Transaction costs 
Transaction costs that the Group incurs in connection with a business combination, such as finder’s fees, legal fees, due 
diligence fees, and other professional and consulting fees, are expensed as incurred. 
 

c) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are 
readily converted to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. 
 
Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the balance sheet. 

d) Plant and equipment 
Acquisition of Assets 
Items of plant and equipment acquired are recorded at the cost of acquisition, being the purchase consideration determined as 
at the date of acquisition plus costs incidental to the acquisition. 
 
Depreciation 
Depreciation is provided on plant and equipment. Depreciation is calculated on a reducing balance basis so as to write off the 
net cost or other revalued amount of each asset over its expected useful life. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over 
the period of the lease or estimated useful life, whichever is the shorter. The following estimated useful lives are used in the 
calculation of depreciation: 
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- Office furniture, fittings, equipment and computers   2.5 to 5 years 
- Leasehold improvements the lease term  
- Self-funded rental assets  2.5 to 5 years 
- Motor vehicles 5 years 
- Leased computer equipment and software 2.5 to 5 years 
 
Depreciation method, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date. 
 
Gains and losses on disposal 
Gains and losses on disposal of an item of plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal 
with the carrying amount of plant and equipment and are recognised net within “other income” in profit and loss. When 
revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in the revaluation reserve are transferred to retained earnings. 

e) Leased assets 
Leases are classified at their inception as either operating or finance leases based on the economic substance of the agreement 
so as to reflect the risks and benefits incidental to ownership. 
 
Operating leases 
The minimum lease payments of operating leases, where the lessor effectively retains substantially all of the risks and 
benefits of ownership of the leased item, are recognised as an expense on a straight line basis. 
 
Finance leases 
Leases which effectively transfer substantially all of the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item to the 
consolidated entity are capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease payments and disclosed as plant and equipment 
under lease.  A lease liability of equal value is also recognised. 
 
Capitalised lease assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the assets and the lease term.  
Minimum lease payments are allocated between interest expense and reduction of the lease liability with the interest expense 
calculated using the interest rate implicit in the lease and charged directly to the profit and loss. 
 

f) Trade and other accounts payables 
Trade payables are recognised when the consolidated entity becomes obliged to make future payments resulting from the 
purchase of goods and services.  
 

g) Investments 
Investments in controlled entities are recorded at the lower of cost and recoverable amount. Investments in associates are 
accounted for under the equity method in the consolidated financial statements and the cost method in the company financial 
statements. Other investments are recorded at the lower of cost and recoverable amount. 
 
h) Financial Assets 
Investments are recognised and derecognised on trade date where purchase or sale of an investment is under contract whose 
terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially measures 
at fair value net of transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost in the 
company financial statements. Subsequent to initial recognition, investments in associates are accounted for under the equity 
method in the consolidated financial statements and the cost method in the company. Other financial assets are classified into 
the following specified categories: financial assets at ‘fair value through profit and loss’, ‘held-to-maturity’ investments, 
‘available-for-sale’ financial assets and ‘loans and receivables’. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the 
financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. 
 
Effective interest method 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating interest income 
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the 
expected life of the financial asset or, where appropriate, a shorter period. 
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Loans and receivables 
Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables are recorded at amortised cost less impairment. 
 
Insurance prepayment 
In respect to the UK operations, when an equipment insurance policy is issued by Allianz to RentSmart Limited’s customers, 
RentSmart Limited pays the customer’s insurance premium to Allianz. RentSmart Limited subsequently collects the 
insurance premium from the customer on a monthly basis over the life of the rental agreement. Where a policy is cancelled, 
the unexpired premiums are refunded to RentSmart Limited. 
 
 

i) Impairment of  assets 
Financial assets 
A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is impaired. A 
financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect 
on the estimated future cash flows of that asset. 
 
An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measures at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its 
carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. An 
impairment loss in respect of an available-for sale financial asset is calculated by reference to its fair value. 
 
Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial assets are 
assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics. 
 
All impairment losses are recognised in profit and loss. Any cumulative loss in respect of an available-for-sale financial asset 
recognised previously in equity is transferred to profit and loss. 
 
An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was 
recognised. For financial assets measured at amortised cost and available-for-sale financial assets that are debt securities, the 
reversal is recognised in profit and loss. For available-for-sale financial assets that are equity securities, the reversal is 
recognised directly in other comprehensive income. 
 
Non-financial assets 
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists then the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite lives or that are not yet available for 
use, the recoverable amount is estimated at each reporting date. 
 
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing 
use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-generating unit”). The 
goodwill acquired in a business combination, for the purpose of impairment testing, is allocated to cash-generating units that 
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. 
 
An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable 
amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units 
are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (groups of units) on a pro rata basis. 
 
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in the prior 
periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment 
loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 
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j) Intangible Assets  
Intellectual Property 
Intellectual property is recorded at cost of acquisition over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired, is amortised 
on a straight line basis over 20 years. 
 
Inertia Assets and Distribution Network Assets 
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are identified and recognised separately from goodwill where they 
satisfy the definition of an intangible asset and their fair values can be measured reliably. Intangible assets recognised are 
“inertia” and “distribution networks” acquired on the acquisition of RentSmart Limited on 1 December 2006. 
 
Inertia Assets 
At the conclusion of the initial rental period, the Group is entitled to acquire the equipment from the funders at a nominal 
value. Inertia represents the expected income streams from the unguaranteed residual interest in equipment on unexpired 
rental contracts in existence at 1 December 2006. The maximum term of unexpired interest at 1 December 2006 is four years 
and the intangible asset is amortised over the expected income profile of this revenue stream. 
 
Distribution Network Assets 
Distribution networks represent the value attributable to the retailer network from which rental contracts are originated. The 
intangible asset is amortised on a straight line basis until the expected expiry of the contract, which is 4.5 years. 
 
Funding Agreements 
The contractual rights obtained by the Group under financing agreements entered into with its funding partners constitute 
intangible assets with finite useful lives. These contract rights are recognised initially at cost and amortised over their 
expected useful lives (initially contract term or expected period until facility limit is reached – between 5 and 7 years). At 
each reporting date a review for indicators of impairment is conducted. 
 
Software Development 
Software development relates to the development of the Group’s proprietary SmartCheck credit application processing 
software system. Software development costs are capitalised only up to the point when the software has been tested and is 
ready for use in the manner intended by management.  
 
Software development expenditure is capitalised only if the development costs can be measured reliably, the product process 
is technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable, and the Group intends to and has sufficient 
resources to complete development and to use or sell the asset. The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of direct labour 
and overhead costs that are directly attributable to preparing the asset for its intended use. 
 
The intangible asset is amortised on a straight line basis over its estimated useful life, which is 4 years. Capitalised software 
development expenditure is measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 
 

k) Goodwill 
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at its cost, being the excess of the cost of the business 
combination over the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
recognised. Goodwill is subsequently measured at its cost less any impairment losses. 
 
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash generating units (CGUs) or groups 
of CGUs, expected to benefit from the synergies of the business combination. CGUs (or groups of CGUs) to which goodwill 
has been allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
goodwill might be impaired. 
 
If the recoverable amount of the CGU (or group of CGUs) is less than the carrying amount of the CGU (or group of CGUs), 
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU (or group of CGUs) 
and then to the other assets of the CGU (or group of CGUs) pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the 
CGU (or CGUs). The impairment loss recognised for goodwill is recognised immediately in the profit or loss and is not 
reversed in the subsequent period. 
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On disposal of an operation within a CGU, the attributable goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss of 
disposal on the operation. 
 

l) Government grants 
Government grants are assistance by the Government in the form of transfer of resources to the company in return for past or 
future compliance with certain conditions to the operating activities of the company. Government grants are not recognised 
until there is reasonable assurance that the company will or has complied with the conditions attaching to them and the grants 
will be received. Government grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with the related 
costs which they are intended to compensate. Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses 
already incurred are recognised as income of the period in which it becomes receivable. 
 

m) Employee Benefits 
A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries and annual leave when it is 
probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured reliably. 
 
The group’s net obligation in respect of long service leave is the amount of future benefit that employees earned in return for 
their service in the current and prior periods plus related on-costs; that benefit is discounted to determine its present value, 
and the fair value of any related assets is deducted. 
 
Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits, which are expected to be settled within 12 months, are measured at 
their nominal values, using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.  
 
Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits, which are not expected to be settled within 12 months, are measured at 
their present value of the estimated future cash flows to be made by the group.  
 
Share –based payments 
The grant date fair value of share-based payment awards granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense, with a 
corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the employees unconditionally become entitled to the awards. The 
amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the related service and non-market 
vesting conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognised as an expense is based on the number 
of awards that do not meet the related service and non-market performance conditions at the vesting date. For share-based 
payment awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant date fair value of the share-based payment is measured to reflect such 
conditions and there is no true-up for differences between expected and actual outcomes. 
 
When the Company grants options over its shares to employees of subsidiaries, the fair value of grant date is recognised as an 
increase in the investments in subsidiaries, with a corresponding increase in equity over the vesting period of the grant. 
 

n) Inventories 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price 
less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make use for sale. 
 

o) Revenue Recognition 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the entity and the revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific 
recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised: 
 
Funder Income  
Commission receivable from funders is recognised at the time finance approval is given, adjusted for an allowance for loans 
not expected to proceed to a contract. A component of the income where material is deferred and recognised in line with the 
services provided.  As at 31 December 2009 and 2008, this deferred revenue was not considered material. 
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Unguaranteed Residual Interest in Equipment (inertia income) 
At the conclusion of the initial rental period the consolidated entity is entitled to acquire the equipment from the funders at a 
nominal value. All risks and rewards of ownership pass to the Group at that point and it has the option to either immediately 
dispose of the equipment or continue to rent the asset to third parties. 
 
• Ongoing rental income  

Where the asset acquired from the funder is rented to third parties the income from that rental is brought to account 
when the control of the right to receive this income is attained and can be reliably measured, usually on a monthly 
basis.  
No ongoing rental income is brought to account in respect of the unexpired rental contracts. 

• Income earned from sale of equipment 
Where the asset acquired is sold the net sale proceeds are brought to account at the time of the sale. 

 
Insurance Income 
Funder income includes commissions received on insurance policies issued by third party insurers to cover theft and damage 
of rental equipment. In UK, a proportion of the insurance income is recognised at inception on the basis of stage of 
completion of the service, with the remaining income recognised over the life of the policy. The revenue recognition policy 
for the Australian insurance income is consistent with the treatment of funder income.  
 

p) Financial Instruments  
Non-derivative financial assets 
The group initially recognises loans and receivables and deposits on the date that they are originated. All other financial 
assets (including assets designated at fair value through profit or loss) are initially on the trade date at which the Group 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
The group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the 
right to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or 
retained by the group is recognised as a separate asset or liability. 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only 
when, the group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Such 
assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition 
loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. 
 
Held-to-maturity investments 
If the Group has the positive intent and ability to hold debt securities to maturity, then they are classified as held-to-maturity. 
Held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment 
losses. 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets 
The Group’s investments in equity and certain debt securities are classified as available-for-sale financial assets. Subsequent 
to initial recognition, they are measured at fair value and changes therein, other than impairment losses, and foreign exchange 
gains and losses on available-for-sale monetary items, are recognised directly in a separate component of equity. When an 
investment is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss in equity is transferred to profit or loss. 
 
Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss 
An instrument is classified as at fair value through profit or loss if it is held for trading or is designated as such upon initial 
recognition. Financial instruments are designated at fair value through profit or loss if the Group manages such investments 
and makes purchase and sale decisions based on their fair value on accordance with the Group’s documented risk 
management or investment strategy. Upon initial recognition attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss 
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when incurred. Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, and changes therein are 
recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Other 
Other non-derivative financial instruments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any 
impairment losses. 
 
Non-derivative financial liabilities 
The Group initially recognises debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the date that they are originated. All other 
financial liabilities (including liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially on the trade 
date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The Group derecognises a financial 
liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire. Financial assets and liabilities are offset and 
the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the 
amounts and intends wither to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 
 
Share capital 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to issue of ordinary shares and share options 
are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. 
 

q) Income tax 
Current tax 
Current tax is calculated by reference to the amount of income taxes payable or recoverable in respect of the taxable profit or 
tax loss for the period. It is calculated using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
reporting date. Current tax for current and prior periods is recognised as a liability (or asset) to the extent that it is unpaid (or 
refundable). 
 
Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is accounted for using the comprehensive balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences 
arising from differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the 
corresponding tax base of those items. 
 
In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to 
the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable amounts will be available against which deductible temporary differences 
or unused tax losses and tax offsets can be utilised. However, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the 
temporary differences giving rise to them arise from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities (other than as a result of a 
business combination) which affects neither taxable income nor accounting profit. Furthermore, a deferred tax liability is not 
recognised in relation to taxable temporary differences arising from goodwill. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and joint 
ventures except where the Consolidated Entity is able to control the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable 
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
 
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with these investments and interests are only 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of 
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period(s) when the asset and 
liability giving rise to them are realised or settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by reporting date. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would 
follow from the manner in which the Consolidated Entity expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying 
amount of its assets and liabilities. 
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the 
Company/Consolidated Entity intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 
 
Current and deferred tax for the period 
Current and deferred tax is recognised as an expense or income in the income statement, except when it relates to items 
credited or debited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised directly in equity, or where it arises 
from the initial accounting for a business combination, in which case it is taken into account in the determination of goodwill 
or excess purchase consideration. 
 
Tax consolidation 
The Company and its wholly owned Australian resident entities formed a tax-consolidated group during 2008. As a 
consequence, all members of the tax-consolidated group are taxed as a single entity from 1 January 2008. The head entity 
within the tax-consolidated group is ThinkSmart Ltd. 
 
Current tax expense/ income, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences of the 
members of the tax-consolidated group are recognised in the separate financial statements of the members of the tax-
consolidated group using the ‘group allocation approach’ by reference to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in 
separate financial statements of each entity and the tax values applying under tax consolidation. 
 
Any current tax liabilities (or assets) and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses of the subsidiaries are assumed by 
the head entity in the tax-consolidated group and are recognised by the Company as amounts payable/ (receivable) to/ (from) 
other entities in the tax-consolidated group in conjunction with any tax funding arrangement amounts (refer below). Any 
difference between these amounts is recognised by the Company as an equity contribution or distribution. 
 
The Company recognises deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses of the tax-consolidated group to the extent that it 
is probable that future taxable profits of the tax-consolidated group will be available against which the asset can be utilised. 
Any subsequent period adjustments to deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses as a result of revised assessments of 
the probability of recoverability is recognised by the head entity only. 
 
Nature of tax funding arrangement and tax sharing agreement 
The head entity, in conjunction with other members of the tax-consolidated group, has entered into a tax funding 
arrangement which sets out the funding obligations of members of the tax-consolidated group in respect of tax amounts. The 
tax funding arrangements require payments to/from the Company equal to the current tax liability/(asset) assumed by the 
Company and any tax-loss deferred tax asset assumed by the Company, resulting in the Company recognising an inter-entity 
receivable/(payable) equal in amount to the tax liability/(asset) assumed. The inter-entity receivables/(payables) are at call. 
 
Contributions to fund the current tax liabilities will be documented in the tax funding arrangement and reflect the timing of 
the Company’s obligation to make payments for tax liabilities to the relevant tax authorities. 
 
The head entity in conjunction with the other members of the tax-consolidated group, will also be required to enter into a tax 
sharing agreement. The tax sharing agreement provides for the determination of the allocation of income tax liabilities 
between the entities should the Company default on its tax payment obligations. No amounts will be recognised in the 
financial statements in respect of this agreement as payment of any amounts under the tax sharing agreement is considered 
remote. 
 

r) Goods and services tax 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST) except: 
i) where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of the cost 

of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or 
ii) receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST. 
 
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables. 
 
Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis.  The GST component of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as operating 
cash flows. 



THINKSMART LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

 35 

s) Foreign currency transactions 
Functional and presentation currency 
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the Entity operates (“the functional currency”). 
 
The Consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is ThinkSmart Limited’s functional and 
presentation currency. 
 
Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of 
the transactions.  Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the 
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in 
the income statement. 
 
Group companies and foreign operations 
The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) 
that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as 
follows: 
 
• Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance 

sheet. 
• Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless this is not a 

reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case 
income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and 

• All resulting exchange differences are recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve as a separate 
component of equity. 

 
On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign entities, and of 
borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to shareholders’ equity.  
When a foreign operation is sold or borrowings repaid a proportionate share of such exchange differences are recognised in 
the income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale. 
 
Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation, the 
settlement of which is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future, are considered to form part of a net investment in a 
foreign operation and are recognised directly in other comprehensive income in foreign currency translation reserve. 
 
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the 
foreign entity and translated at exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date. 
 
t) Earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company, excluding any 
costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 
the year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year. 
 
Diluted earnings per share 
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account the 
after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the 
weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary 
shares. 
 
u) Corporate Development costs 
Corporate developments costs are expensed as incurred in investing in new markets and primarily comprise of salary costs, 
travel, consultancy and trademark protection.   
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v) Provisions 
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be 
estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligations. 
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. 
 
w) Lease payments 
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight line basis over the term of the lease. 
Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease. 
 
Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction of the 
outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant period 
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 
 
Contingent lease payments are accounted for by revising the minimum lease payments over the remaining term of the lease 
when the contingency no longer exists and the lease adjustments is known.  
 
x) Finance income and expenses 
Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested (included available-for-sale financial assets), dividend income, 
gains on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets and changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method. Dividend income is 
recognised in profit or loss on the date the Group’s right to receive payment is established, which in the case of quoted 
securities is the ex-dividend date. 
 
Finance expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on provisions, dividends on 
preference shares classified as liabilities, changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, 
impairment losses recognised on financial assets, and losses on hedging instruments that are recognised in profit or loss. All 
borrowings costs are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. 
Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis. 
 
y) Segment reporting 
As of 1 January 2009. the Group determines and presents operating segments based on the information that internally is 
provided to the CEO, who is the Group’s chief operating decision maker. This change in accounting policy is due to 
adoption of AASB 8 Operating Segments. Previously, operating segments were determined and presented in accordance to 
AASB 114 Segment Reporting. The new accounting policy in respect to segment operating disclosures is presented as 
follows.  
 
Comparative segment information has been re-presented in conformity with the transitional requirements of such standard. 
Since the change in accounting policy only impacts presentation and disclosure aspects, there is no impact on earnings per 
share.  
 
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and 
incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other components. All 
operating segments’ operating results are regularly reviewed by the Group’s CEO to make decisions about resources to be 
allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.  
 
Segment results, assets and liabilities include items attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a 
reasonable basis. Unallocated items compromise mainly investments and related revenue, loans and borrowings and related 
expenses, and head office expenses, and income tax assets and liabilities.  
 
Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire property, plant and equipment, and 
intangible assets other than goodwill. 
 
z) Determination of fair value 
A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial and 
non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on 
the following methods. When applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is 
disclosed in the notes specific to that asset and liability. 
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Intangible assets 
The fair value of intangible assets as a result of business combination is based on the discounted cash flows expected to be 
derived from the use and eventual sale of the assets (refer to note 3(j)). 
 
Investment in equity and debt securities 
The fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale 
financial assets is determined by reference to their quoted bid price at the reporting date. The fair value of held-to-maturity 
investments is determined for disclosure purposes only. 
 
Trade and other receivables 
The fair value of trade and other receivables is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the market 
rate of interest at the reporting date. 
 
Non-derivative financial liabilities 
Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future principal and 
interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date. For finance leases, the market rate of 
interest is determined by reference to similar lease agreements. 
 
Share-based payment transactions 
The fair value of employee stock options is measured using a binomial model. Measurement inputs include share price on 
measurement date, exercise price of the instrument, expected volatility (based on weighted average historic volatility 
adjusted for changes expected due to publicly available information), weighted average expected life of the instruments 
(based on historical experience and general option holder behaviour), expected dividends, and the risk-free interest rate 
(based on government bonds). Service and non-market performance conditions attached to the transactions are not taken into 
account in determining fair value. 
 
Financial guarantees 
For financial guarantee contract liabilities, the fair value at initial recognition is determined using a probability weighted 
discounted cash flow approach. This method takes into account the probability of default by the guaranteed party over the 
term of the contract, the loss given default (being the proportion of the exposure that is not expected to be recovered in the 
event of default) and exposure at default (being the maximum loss at the time of default). 
 
aa) Adoption of new and revised accounting standards 
 
At the date of authorisation of the financial report, the following are Standards and Interpretations were in issue but not yet 
effective, that may be applicable to the Group. The Group has not early adopted any of these standards: 
 
• AASB 2009-5 Further amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Process 

affect various AASBs resulting in minor changes to presentation, disclosure, recognition and measurement purposes. The 
amendments, which become mandatory for the Group’s 31 December 2010 financial statements, are not expected to have 
a significant impact on the financial statements. 
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4. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, management is required to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstance, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates. 
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 
 
Except as described below, in preparing this consolidated financial report, the significant judgements made by management 
in applying the consolidated entity’s accounting policies and the key sources of estimation uncertainty were the same as 
those that applied to the consolidated financial report as at and for the year ended 31 December 2008. 
 
a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies 
 
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may 
differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 
 
In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting 
policies that have the most significant affect on the amount recognised in the financial statements are described in the 
following notes: 
• Note 16 – measurement of the recoverable amounts of cash-generating units containing goodwill 
• Note 15 – recoverable amount of intangible assets 
• Note 7 – utilisation of tax losses 
• Note 22 – measurement of share based payments 
• Note 28 and 29 – contingent assets and liabilities 
• Note 18 – Provision for employee entitlements 
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5. Financial Risk Management 
 
Overview 
The Company and the group have exposure to the following risks from their use of financial instruments:  
• Credit risk 
• Liquidity risk 
• Market risk 
• Operational risk 
 
This note presents information about the Company’s and group’s exposure to each of the above risks, their objectives, 
policies and processes for measuring and managing risks, and the management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are 
included throughout this financial report. 
 
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework. 
The Board has established the Audit and Risk Management Committee, which is responsible for developing and monitoring 
risk management policies. The Committee reports to the Board of Directors on its activities. 
 
Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Company and the Group, to set 
appropriate limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are 
reviewed regularly to reflect the changes in market conditions and the Company’s and Group’s activities. The Company and 
Group, through their training and management standards and procedures, aim to develop a disciplined and constructive 
control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations. 
 
The Audit and Risk Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Company’s and Group’s risk 
management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks 
faced by the Company and the Group. The Audit and Risk Committee is assisted in its oversight role by Internal Audit. 
Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which 
are reported to the Audit and Risk Committee. 
 
Credit Risk 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty or customer will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial 
loss to the Group and arise principally from the Group’s assessment of recoverability from debtors.  The Group has adopted 
a policy of only dealing with credit worthy counterparties as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults.  
 
The Group has minimal concentrations of credit risk in relation to trade receivables. In most cases, credit risk arising from 
customer rental contracts are not borne by the Group but by the funding institutions. The day to day management of credit 
risk is undertaken by ensuring counterparties fall within specific risk criteria prepared by our financiers and the Board.  
 
The Company and Group assess impairment of receivables on an individual basis.  
 
The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowances for losses, represents the 
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk. 
 
Guarantees 
Group policy is to provide financial guarantees only to wholly-owned subsidiaries. Details of outstanding guarantees are 
provided in note 18. 
 
Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  The Group’s 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its 
liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to 
the Group’s reputation. 
 
The consolidated entity manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserve facilities by continuously reviewing its 
facilities and cash flows. 
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The Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses. In addition, the Group 
maintains the following lines of credit: 
 
• Secured bank overdraft facility of $250,000. Interest would be payable at ANZ’s reference rate. 
• Secured bill acceptance facility of $5,000,000, in which $2,500,000 was drawn down during 2008. Interest would be 

payable at prevailing bank rate. 
• Other operational facilities are set out in note 24 (c). 
 
Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will 
affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is 
to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising return. 
 
Currency risk 
The Group is exposed to currency risk on sales, purchases and borrowings that are denominated in a currency other than the 
respective functional currencies of the Group entities, primarily the Australian dollar (AUD), but also the Euro (EUR), 
Sterling (GBP) and US dollars (USD). The currencies in which these transactions primarily are denominated are AUD, EUR, 
GBP and USD. 
 
Interest on borrowings is denominated in currencies that match the cash flows generated by the underlying operations of the 
Group, primarily AUD, but also GBP and EUR. This provides an economic hedge and no derivatives are entered into.  
 
Liabilities incurred in each respective geographical territory are paid for by the cash flows of the functional currency of that 
territory.  Exposures for singular transactions greater than $50,000 are considered for hedging by management, with 
forward exchange contracts to mitigate exchange rate risk and are considered separately as they arise. The consolidated 
entity has no forward exchange contracts as at reporting date (2008: nil) 
 
Intercompany borrowings are denominated in the currency of the lender. Transaction recharges between the companies 
provides an economic hedge and timing of payments are within the control of the Group to ensure economic viability, as a 
result no derivatives are entered into. 
 
In respect of other monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, the management ensures that the 
Group’s net exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates when necessary to 
address the short term imbalances. 
 
Interest rate risk 
The Group has no significant non-current borrowings. The terms and conditions of current borrowings are set out above. 
Exposure to interest rate risk on any future borrowings will be assessed by the Board and where appropriate, the exposure to 
movement in interest rates may be hedged by entering into interest rate swaps, when considered appropriate by the 
management and the Board. 
 
Operational risk 
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the Group’s 
processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit, market and liquidity risks 
such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour. 
Operational risks arise from all of the Group’s operations. 
 
The Group’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and damage to the 
Group’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that restrict initiative and creativity. 
 
The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational risk is assigned to 
senior management within each business unit. This responsibility is supported by the development of overall group standards 
for the management of operational risk in the following areas: 
• Requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorisation of transactions 
• Requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions 
• Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements 
• Documentation of controls and procedures 
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• Requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of controls and procedures to 
address the risks identified 

• Development of business continuity plans 
• Training and professional development 
• Ethical and business standards 
• Risk mitigation, including insurance where this is effective 
 
Compliance with group standards is supported by a programme of periodic reviews undertaken by Internal Audit. The results 
of Internal Audit reviews are discussed with the management of the business unit to which they relate, with summaries 
submitted to the Audit Committee and senior management of the Group. 
 
Capital management 
The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to 
sustain future development of the business.  Management aims to maintain a capital structure that ensures the lowest cost of 
capital available to the group. Management constantly reviews the capital structure to ensure an increasing return on assets. 
As the market is constantly changing, management may change the amount of dividends to be paid to shareholders, return of 
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 
 
The Group’s debt-to-adjusted capital ratio at the end of the reporting period was as follows: 
 

 Consolidated 
 2009 2008 
 $ $ 
   
Total liabilities 8,799,115 9,533,517 
Less cash and cash equivalents 5,468,171 4,547,371 
Net debt 3,330,944 4,986,146 
   
Total equity 18,163,883 16,906,084 
Less adjustments - - 
Adjusted capital 18,163,883 16,906,084 
Debt-to-adjusted capital ratio at 31 December 0.18 0.30 

 
The Board encourages employees to hold shares in the Company. At present employees hold 23.7% (2008: 23.7%) of 
ordinary shares.  
 
Neither the Company not any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements. Refer to note 22 for 
items comprising capital.
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 Notes Consolidated Company 
  2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 
2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 
6. Profit      
Profit is arrived at after crediting/(charging) 
the following items: 

     

a) Revenue      
Distribution income  - - 1,955,532 3,300,000 
Funder income  20,047,793 23,223,026 - - 
Revenue received on sale of equipment  4,959,253 4,479,536 - - 
Rental income  5,542,288 5,968,474 - - 
Insurance brokerage income  5,120,648 4,396,117   
Other revenue  1,086,836 831,360 - - 

  36,756,819 38,898,513 1,955,532 3,300,000 
  

b) Employee benefits expense      
Payments to employees  9,921,477 11,973,216 - - 
Share options cost  52,584 55,000 - - 
Provision for employee entitlements 548,328 685,298 - -

 10,522,389 12,713,514 - -
      
c) Depreciation expense  

Depreciation of plant and equipment  320,891 216,853 - - 
Depreciation of leasehold improvements  104,626 22,847 - - 

Depreciation of self funded rentals  3,344 6,053 - - 

Depreciation of web sites  565 1,023 - - 

Depreciation of lease equipment & 
software 

 125,733 162,909 - - 

  555,159 409,686 - - 
      
d) Amortisation expense      

Amortisation of software  586,788 210,389 - - 
Amortisation of funding agreement 205,423 173,012 - -
Amortisation of distribution network  124,427 131,082 - - 
Amortisation of inertia contracts  1,147,994 1,263,194 - - 
Amortisation of intellectual property 32,094 32,091 - -

  2,096,726 1,809,768 - - 
      
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



THINKSMART LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

 43 

 Notes Consolidated Company 
  2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 
2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 
6. Profit (cont.)      
e) Finance (costs)/benefits  

Interest revenue – other entities  67,339 163,724 7,641 24,191 
 – related parties  - - 1,713,800 1,759,365 
Total finance benefits  67,339 163,724 1,721,441 1,783,556 
      
Interest expense – other entities  (130,253) (50,752) (100,397) (8,139) 
 – related parties  - - - - 
Total interest costs  (130,253) (50,752) (100,397) (8,139) 
      
Finance charges  (930,066) (588,326) (64,674) (44,326) 
Total finance benefit/(cost)  (992,980) (475,354) 1,556,370 1,731,091 

      
      
f)    Other Expenses      
        Loss on sale of property and equipment  - 26,845 - - 
        Other expenses  2,234,746 2,143,744 72,632 51,057 
          2,234,746 2,170,589 72,632 51,057 

Other expenses comprise of other administrative expenses including postage, travel and training.  
 
 
g)   Restructuring cost      

Impairment of plant and equipment - 40,278 - -
Impairment of intangible assets  - 197,398 - - 
Other  - 178,508 - - 
  - 416,184 - - 
Restructuring costs relate to expenses incurred in exiting the USA market. Other restructuring costs mainly comprise 
redundancy costs. 
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 Consolidated Company 

 2009 
$ 

2008 
$ 

2009 
$ 

2008 
$ 

7. Income Tax     

     

     
The major components of income tax expense for the year 
ended 31 December are: 

    

Current income tax       
Current income tax charge 1,940,806 2,435,166 620,457 884,425 
Adjustment for prior period (139,865) (711,493) (80,849) (711,493) 
Deferred income tax     
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 237,447 248,940 652,040 675,564 
Adjustment for prior period 203,476 398,260 203,476 398,260 
Change in unrecognised temporary differences 219,684 119,313 - - 
Income tax expense/ (benefit) reported in income statement 2,461,548 2,490,186 1,395,124 1,246,756 

 
A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit/(loss) before income tax multiplied by the applicable 
income tax rate is as follows: 
 Consolidated Company 

 
2009 
$ 

2008 
$ 

2009 
$ 

2008 
$ 

Accounting profit/(loss) before tax  7,633,324 5,700,938 3,167,226 4,658,415 
Less: Distribution from RentSmart Unit Trust - - (1,955,532) (3,300,000) 
Add: RentSmart Unit Trust profit before tax - - 3,895,866 3,484,833 

Adjusted accounting profit/(loss) before tax 7,633,324 5,700,938 5,107,560 4,843,248 
At the statutory income tax rate of 30% 2,289,997 1,710,281 1,532,268 1,452,974 
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions (63,389) (56,563) - - 
Non deductible expenses:     
     - corporate development 91,034 53,791 4,873 14,524 
     - other (31,132) (105,697) (19,390) 14,341 
Exempt income - - - (257,817) 
Adjustment on entry into tax consolidation group - 335,970 - 335,970 
Overseas tax losses not recognised/ (recognised) 238,649 865,639 - - 
Adjustments in respect of prior periods (63,611) (313,235) (122,627) (313,235) 
Income tax expense/(benefit) reported in the income 
statement 2,461,548 2,490,186 1,395,124 1,246,757 

     
Income tax recognised directly in equity     
Listing cost - 74,428 - 74,428 
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7. Income Tax (cont.) 
 
Deferred tax asset Consolidated Company 

 
2009 
$ 

2008 
$ 

2009 
$ 

2008 
$ 

Corporate development cost 357,444 398,939 357,444 398,939 
Employee entitlements 229,988 159,434 229,988 159,434 
Listing cost 595,340 890,451 595,340 890,451 
Consulting cost 2,702 6,079 2,702 6,079 
Plant & equipment 1,076,351 945,020 1,076,351 945,020 
Other 62,029 59,864 17,731 30,188 

Total 2,323,854 2,459,787 2,279,556 2,430,110 
 
 
Deferred tax liability Consolidated Company 

 
2009 
$ 

2008 
$ 

2009 
$ 

2008 
$ 

Prepayments - 4,249 - 4,249 
Deals awaiting settlement 93,039 35,470 93,039 35,470 
Intangible assets 337,274 796,080 91,870 - 

Government grant - 19,993 - - 

Plant & equipment 1,515,399 1,190,494 1,515,399 1,190,494 
ABL servicer fee 331,628 98,510 331,628 98,510 
Other debtors 144,351 11,766 24,014 22,135 

Total 2,421,691 2,156,562 2,055,950 1,350,858 

     

Net deferred tax asset 100,550 965,568 223,606 1,079,252 

Net deferred tax liability 198,387 662,343 - - 
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7. Income Tax (cont.) 
 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets 
 Consolidated Company 

 
2009 
$ 

2008 
$ 

2009 
$ 

2008 
$ 

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect 
of the following items:     
Tax losses 1,256,608 865,639 - - 

 1,256,608 865,639 - - 
     
 
The deductible temporary differences and tax losses do not expire under current tax legislation. Deferred tax assets that 
relate to tax losses in overseas jurisdictions have not been recognised in respect of these items because it is not probable that 
future taxable profit will be available against which the group can utilise the benefits there from. 
 
 
Tax Consolidation 
ThinkSmart Ltd and its 100% owned Australian resident subsidiaries have formed a tax consolidated group during the 2008 
financial year. 
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  Consolidated Company 
 Note 2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 
2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 
8. Trade and other receivables      

Current  
Trade receivables (i)  1,893,771 1,882,885 - - 
Allowance for doubtful debts  (214,448) (258,615) - - 
Sundry debtors  61,044 - - - 

  1,740,369 1,624,270 - - 
      

Non-current      
Trade receivables (i)  731,609 210,384 - - 

  731,609 210,384 - - 
  

(i) No interest is charged on trade receivables. The Group’s exposure to credit and currency risks and impairment 
losses related to trade and other receivables are disclosed in note 30. 

      
9. Inventories      

Promotional stock on hand  1,826 - - - 
Rental asset inventory  72,760 65,520 - - 

  74,586 65,520 - - 
 
10. Prepayment - current      

Insurance prepayment 3(h) 2,393,154 3,037,015 - - 
Retailer marketing prepayment  1,148,961 761,838 - - 
Other prepayment  773,005 711,038 53,526 14,164 

  4,315,120 4,509,891 53,526 14,164 
      
 
11. Other current assets      

Deals awaiting settlement  310,131 118,233 - - 
Other 484 75,137 157 1,417

  310,615 193,370 157 1,417 
      
 
12. Prepayment – non current      

Insurance prepayment 3(h) 2,953,610 3,648,041 - - 
  2,953,610 3,648,041 - - 
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13. Plant & Equipment 
 

 
Plant & 

Equipment 
$ 

Leasehold 
improvements 

$ 

Self 
funded 
rentals 

$ 

Web 
Sites 

$ 

Lease 
equipment 
& software 

$ 
Total  

$ Consolidated 
Gross Carrying Amount       
Cost or deemed cost       
Balance at 1 Jan 2008 1,137,924 512,313 149,958 76,450 1,945,763 3,822,408 
Net foreign currency translation 
differences - - - - - - 
Additions 757,878 125,117 - - 326,857 1,209,852 
Disposals - (298,631) - - - (298,631) 
Balance at 31 Dec 2008 1,895,802 338,799 149,958 76,450 2,272,620 4,733,629 
Net foreign currency translation 
differences (154,602) (62,110) - - (22,594) (239,306)
Additions 382,680 - - - 82,257 464,937 
Disposals - - - - - - 
Balance at 31 Dec 2009 2,123,880 276,689 149,958 76,450 2,332,283 4,959,260 
       
Accumulated Depreciation       
Balance at 1 Jan 2008 (928,011) (389,823) (133,958) (74,134) (1,741,708) (3,267,634) 
Net foreign currency translation 
differences (8,262) - - - (18,600) (26,862) 
Disposals - 271,786 - - - 271,786
Depreciation expense (216,853) (22,847) (6,053) (1,023) (162,909) (409,686) 
Impairment loss - - - - (40,278) (40,278) 
Balance at 31 Dec 2008 (1,153,126) (140,884) (140,011) (75,157) (1,963,495) (3,472,674) 
Effect of movement in exchange 
rate 98,799 38,513 - - 22,594 159,906 
Disposals - - - - - - 
Depreciation expense (320,891) (104,626) (3,344) (565) (125,733) (555,159) 
Balance at 31 Dec 2009 (1,375,218) (206,997) (143,355) (75,722) (2,066,634) (3,867,926) 
    
Net Book Value       
At 31 Dec 2008 742,676 197,915 9,947 1,293 309,125 1,260,955 
At 31 Dec 2009 748,662 69,692 6,603 728 265,649 1,091,334 

 
ThinkSmart Limited, the parent company holds no plant & equipment. 
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 % of Equity Consolidated Company 
 2009 2008 2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 
2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 
14. Other Financial Assets       

Interest in Subsidiaries     Country of 
       Incorporation  

      

RentSmart Unit Trust      Australia  100% 100% - - 23,526 23,526 

RentSmart Pty Ltd     Australia  100% 100% - - 162,304 109,720 

RentSmart Limited     UK   100% 100% - - - - 

SmartCheck Ltd       Australia  100% 100% - - - - 

RentSmart Pty Ltd     New Zealand  100% 100% - - - - 

RentSmart Pte Ltd     Singapore  100% 100% - - - - 

ThinkSmart Europe Ltd     UK   100% 100% - - - - 

ThinkSmart Financial  
Services Ltd      UK   100% 100% - - - - 

SmartCheck Ltd       UK   100% 100% - - - - 

ThinkSmart Insurance  
Administration Ltd                 UK 100% 100% - - - - 

SmartCheck Finance  
Spain SL(iii)      Spain   100% 100% - - - - 

SmartPlan Spain SL      Spain   100% 100% - - - - 

ThinkSmart France SARL     France  100% 100% - - - - 

ThinkSmart Sweden AB     Sweden  100% 100% - - - - 

ThinkSmart Italy Srl (i)     Italy   100% 100% - - - - 

ThinkSmart Inc                      USA                    100% 100% - - 113 113 

Investment in controlled entities   - - 185,943 133,359 

Loan to ThinkSmart Europe Ltd (ii)   - - 9,057,465 8,493,800 

Loan to RentSmart Unit Trust (ii)   - - 12,889,811 12,805,950 

Loan to RentSmart Ltd (iii)   - - 1,191,536 2,480,385 

   - - 23,324,755 23,913,494 

 
Investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost. The ultimate controlling entity in Australia is ThinkSmart Ltd. 
 
(i)  On the 9 January 2008, ThinkSmart Italy Srl has changed its name to SmartCheck Italy Srl. 
 
(ii) The receivables are unsecured, payable on demand and attract an interest rate of RBA rate plus a margin of 3% per annum 
(2008: RBA rate plus a margin of 2.55%). 
 
(iii) The receivable is unsecured, payable on demand and attracts no interest (2008: nil percent).
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 Consolidated 
 Funding 

Agreements 
 

$ 

Software 
 
$ 

Distribution 
network 

 
$ 

Intellectual 
Property 

$ 

Inertia 
Contracts 

$ 

Total 
 

$ 

15. Intangible Assets       
Gross carrying amount       
At cost       
Balance at 1 January 2008 393,979 938,421 612,858 641,816 4,344,191 6,931,264 

Additions 503,527 876,380 - - - 1,379,907 

Effect of movement in 
exchange rate 

- - (49,069) - (347,825) (396,895) 

Balance at 31 December 2008 897,506 1,814,801 563,789 641,816 3,996,366 7,914,277 

Additions 300,403 1,169,748 56,806 - - 1,526,957 

Effect of movement in 
exchange rate 

(73,029) - (79,300) - (562,112) (714,441) 

Balance at 31 December 2009 1,124,880 2,984,549 541,295 641,816 3,434,254 8,726,793 

       

Accumulated amortisation 
and impairment 

      

Balance at 1 January 2008 (22,039) (155,247) (147,539) (240,683) (877,495) (1,443,002) 

Amortisation expense  (173,012) (210,389) (131,082) (32,091) (1,263,194) (1,809,768) 

Impairment loss (197,398) - - - - (197,398) 

Effect of movement in 
exchange rate 

(55,128) - 17,608 - 126,095 88,571 

Balance at 31 December 2008 (447,578) (365,636) (261,013) (272,774) (2,014,593) (3,361,597) 

Amortisation expense  (205,423) (586,788) (124,427) (32,094) (1,147,994) (2,096,726) 

Effect of movement in 
exchange rate 

65,028 - 48,655 - 393,823 507,506 

Balance at 31 December 2009 (587,973) (952,424) (336,785) (304,868) (2,768,764) (4,950,814) 
       

Net book value       

At 31 December 2008 449,928 1,449,165 302,775 369,042 1,981,772 4,552,680 
At 31 December 2009 536,907 2,032,125 204,510 336,948 665,490 3,775,980 
       

The Company did not hold any intangible assets during the current or comparative reporting period. 
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  Consolidated Company 
 Notes 2009 

$ 
2008 
$ 

2009 
$ 

2008 
$ 

16.    Goodwill      

Balance at beginning of financial year  4,861,551 5,284,678 - - 

Effect of movement in exchange rate  (683,805) (423,127) - - 

Balance at end of financial year  4,177,746 4,861,551 - - 

 
 
Impairment testing for cash-generating units containing goodwill 
 
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the UK operations, RentSmart Limited and ThinkSmart 
Insurance and Administration Ltd, which represents the lowest level within the Group at which goodwill is monitored for 
internal management purposes. The goodwill arose on the acquisition of RentSmart Limited. 
 
The recoverable amount of the RentSmart Limited and ThinkSmart Insurance and Administration Ltd cash-generating unit 
were based on its value in use, and was determined by using future cash flows generated from the continuing use of the unit. 
The recoverable amount of the unit was determined to be significantly higher than the carrying amount, therefore no 
impairment of goodwill is required, and no further sensitivity analysis is considered necessary. 
 
Value in use is determined by discounting the future cash flows generated from the continuing use of the unit and was based 
on the following key assumptions: 
• Cash flows were projected based on the forecast operating results for 2010, 5% year-on-year growth to 2014, and 

conservative estimated terminal growth at 2.5%. 
• A post tax discount rate of 13.66% was applied in determining the recoverable amount of the unit. The discount rate was 

based on the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) for the Group. The WACC is predominantly a factor of the cost 
of equity which has been set at 15% consistent with independent determinations of the Group’s cost of equity. 
 

 
17. Assets Pledged as Security 
 
RentSmart Unit Trust and ThinkSmart Ltd have pledged all its present and future assets to ANZ as security for the used 
financing facilities ANZ has provided, as disclosed in note 24(c). 
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  Consolidated Company 
 Notes 2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 
2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 
18. Trade and other payables      

Trade and other payables (i)   2,365,369 3,448,588 96,689 42,229 

Product plan  185,429 326,971 - - 

GST Payable  497,321 483,140 - - 

Provision for employee entitlement:      

Annual leave  264,766 325,342 - - 

Long service leave (ii)  214,501 192,638 - - 

Other  21,980 14,843 - - 

  3,549,366 4,791,522 96,689 42,229 

(i) Trade liabilities are normally settled on 30 day terms.  

(ii) The pro rate entitlement of long service leave is provided for after 7 years of service. 

The Group’s exposure to currency and liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is disclosed in note 30. 

The Company has guaranteed the lease, performance and bank loans of its subsidiaries. Under the terms of the 
financial guarantee contracts, the Company will make payments to reimburse the lenders upon failure of the 
guaranteed entity to make payments when fall due. The Company does not expect the financial guarantees to be 
called on. Refer to note 28 for contingent liabilities which includes the parental guarantees provided to subsidiaries. 

Terms and face values of the liabilities guaranteed were as follows: 

 
 

 
Year of 

Maturity 

2009  
Face Value 

$ 

2008 
Face Value

$ 
IBM equipment lease   2009 - 85,696 

Performance guarantee of a subsidiary   2014 7,000,000 5,200,000 

The method used in determining fair value of these guarantees has been disclosed in note 3(z) determination of fair 
values. 
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  Consolidated Company 
  2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 
2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 
19. Current Borrowings      

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Company’s and Group’s interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings, which are measured at amortised cost. For more information about the Company’s and Group’s exposure 
to interest rate, foreign currency and liquidity risk, see note 30. 

Term loans (ii)  2,490,679 2,459,304 2,490,679 2,459,304 

Hire purchase and lease liabilities (i)  3,543 116,136 - - 

  2,494,222 2,575,440 2,490,679 2,459,304 

(i) The hire purchase and lease liabilities are secured by a charge over the respective assets (refer note 25). 
(ii)  The $2,490,679 fixed term loan relates to a $2,500,000 180-day commercial bill denominated in Australian Dollar 

with a fixed interest of 4.64% pa. The loan was payable on the 20 January 2010. The Company has subsequently 
rolled the $2,500,000 commercial bill for another 180-day ending 19 July 2010 with a fixed interest of 4.58%. 
 

 
20. Non- Current Borrowings      

Hire purchase and lease liabilities (i)  - - - - 

  - - - - 

The carrying amount of the borrowings recorded in the financial statements approximate their aggregate fair values. 

(i) The hire purchase and lease liabilities are secured by a charge over the respective assets (refer note 25). 
 
21. Other – non-current payable      

Product Plan (i)  493 38,648 - - 

  493 38,648 - - 

(i) Premiums for insurance and warranty are funded in advance and remitted to the underwriter at each anniversary 
date. 
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  Consolidated Company 
  2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 
2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 
22. Issued Capital      

(a) Issued and Paid up Capital      

      

96,689,390 Ordinary Shares fully  paid (2008: 
96,689,390) 

 23,614,091 23,614,091 23,614,091 23,614,091 

 

  Company Company 

  2009 2008 
  Number $ Number $ 

Fully Paid Ordinary Shares       

Balance at beginning of the financial year  96,689,390 23,614,091 95,030,164 22,242,200 

Issue of new shares following exercise of options  - - 1,659,226 1,297,463 

Adjustment for tax on capitalised IPO cost  - - - 74,428 

Balance at end of the financial year  96,689,390 23,614,091 96,689,390 23,614,091 
 
During the year, no employee share options were exercised (2008: 1,659,226 employee share options were exercised for 
total proceeds of $1,297,463). 

Ordinary Shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up the Company in proportion to 
the number of and amount paid on the Shares held. 

On a show of hands, every holder of Ordinary Shares present in the meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, 
and upon a poll Share is entitled to one vote. 

The Company does not have authorised capital or par value in respect to its issued shares. 
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22. Issued Capital (cont.) 
 
(b) Share Options – Employee Options 
 
The Company has an ownership-based compensation scheme for executives and senior employees. Each employee share 
option converts to one ordinary share of ThinkSmart Limited on exercise and payment of the exercise price. The options 
carry neither rights or dividends nor voting rights. Options may be exercised at any time within the specified exercise 
period to the date of their expiry. 
 
Options issued in previous periods: 

• 840,000 options over ordinary shares were issued 5 January 2006 and exercisable at $0.4375, vesting and 
exercisable on 1 January 2008 exercisable until 31 December 2008. 

• 1,400,000 options over ordinary shares were issued 5 January 2006 and exercisable at $0.625, vesting and 
exercisable equally over 3 years on 1 January 2008, 1 January 2009 and 1 January 2010, and exercisable until 31 
December 2010. 

• 4,000,000 options over ordinary shares were issued 28 August 2006 and exercisable at $1.125, vesting and 
exercisable on 28 August  2007 exercisable until 27 August 2008 

• 1,400,000 options over ordinary shares were issued 28 August 2006 and exercisable at $1.375, vesting and 
exercisable on 28 August 2008 exercisable until 27 August 2009. 

• 1,400,000 options over ordinary shares were issued 28 August 2006 and exercisable at $1.625, vesting and 
exercisable on 28 August 2009 exercisable until 27 August 2010. 

• 640,000 options over ordinary shares were issued 17 April 2007 and exercisable at $1.38, vesting and 
exercisable on 1 January 2009 exercisable until 31 December 2011. 

• 720,000 options over ordinary shares were issued 17 April 2007 and exercisable at $3.00, vesting and 
exercisable on 1 January 2009 exercisable until 31 December 2011. 

 
Options issued in the current period: 

• 3,350,000 options over ordinary shares were issued 30 June 2009 and exercisable at $0.62, with an exercise 
period between 1 January 2012 to 31 December 2013. Vesting of the options is subject to achievement of the 
following performance conditions: 

‐ 50% of options are subject to achievement of Earnings per Share (“EPS”) performance conditions; and 
‐ 50% of options are subject to achievement of Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”) performance 

condition. 
 
The value of these options will be expensed over the vesting period in accordance with AASB 2.  
 
There were no options issued in 2008. Below are options that were issued in 2009: 
 

Options series issued in 
2009 Number 

Grant 
date Exercise period 

Exercise price 
$ 

Fair value at 
grant date 

Employee options  3,350,000 30/06/2009 

 
1 January 2012 to 31 

December 2013 $0.62 $0.0683 
 
The weighted average fair value of the share options granted in 2009 is $0.0683. Options were priced using a binomial 
option pricing model. Expected volatility is based on that observed for comparable listed companies over the time period 
appropriate to the option grant in question. 
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22. Issued Capital (cont.) 
 
(b) Share Options – Employee Options  
 
Below are the input used to measure the fair value of the options: 
 

  
Employee 

options 

Issued in 2009  

Fair value at grant date $0.0683

Grant date share price $0.48 

Exercise price $0.62 

Expected volatility 40.0 

Option life (days) 4.0 years 

Dividend yield 9.01% 

Risk-free interest rate 4.96% 
 
The following reconciles the outstanding share options granted under the employee share option plan and the beginning and 
end of the financial year: 
 

 2009 2008 

 

Number of 
options 

 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
$ 

Number of 
options 

 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
$ 

Balance at beginning of the financial year 5,186,667 $1.52 10,120,000 $1.27 

Granted during the financial year 3,350,000 $0.62 - - 

Forfeited during the financial year (400,000) $2.35 - - 

Exercised during the financial year - - (1,659,226) $0.78 

Expired during the financial year (1,400,000) $1.38 (3,274,107) $1.13 

Balance at the end of financial year 6,736,667 $1.05 5,186,667 $1.52 

Exercisable at end of the financial year 3,106,667 $1.56 1,773,334 $1.22 
 
The options outstanding at 31 December 2009 have an exercise price in the range of $0.62 to $3.00 (2008: $0.625 to $3.00) 
and a weighted average contractual life of 2.56 years (2008: 1.81 years). 

No options were exercised in 2009. The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised 
during the year ended 31 December 2008 was $1.39.  
 
The following is the total expense recognised for the period arising from share-based payment transactions. 
 

 Consolidated Company 

 
2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 
2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 

Share options granted in 2006 – equity settled 23,656 43,240 - - 

Share option granted in 2007 – equity settled - 11,760 - - 

Share option granted in 2009 – equity settled 28,928 - - - 

Total expense recognised as employee costs 52,584 55,000 - - 
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22. Issued Capital (cont.) 
 
(c) Dividends 
Dividends recognised in the current year by the Group are: 
 

 
Cents per 

share 
Total 

amount 
Franked/ 

unfranked 
Date of payment 

2009     
Final ordinary 2008 1.5  $1,450,341 100% franked 14 April 2009 

Interim ordinary 2009 1.5  $1,450,341 100% franked 16 October 2009 

  

2008     

Interim 2008 ordinary 2 1,933,788  40% franked 13 October 2008 
 
Franked dividend declared or paid during the year was 100% franked at the tax rate of 30% (2008: 40% franked at the tax 
rate of 30%). 
 
After 31 December 2009, the following dividends were proposed by the directors for 2009. The dividends have not been 
provided for. The declaration and subsequent payment of dividends has no income tax consequences. 
 

 Cents per 
share 

Total 
amount 

Franked/ 
unfranked 

Date of payment 

     

Final ordinary 2009 2.0 $1,933,788 100% franked 23 April 2010 

 
The financial effect of these dividends has not been brought to account in the financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2009, and will be recognised in subsequent financial reports. 
 
(d) Franking credits 

 Consolidated Company

 
2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 
2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 
Franking credit account balance as at the beginning of 
the financial year at a tax rate of 30% (2008: 30%) 434,600 - 434,600 - 
Franking credits from the payment of income tax paid 
and payable as at the end of the financial year 1,400,092 766,106 1,400,092 766,106
Franking debits from the payment of dividends in the 
financial year (1,289,624) (331,506) (1,289,624) (331,506) 
Franking credits available for subsequent financial 
years based on a tax rate of 30% (2008: 30%) 545,068 434,600 545,068 434,600 
 
The ability to utilise the franking credits is dependent upon there being sufficient available profits to declare dividends. The 
impact on the dividend franking account of dividends proposed after the balance sheet date but not recognised as a liability 
is to reduce it by $828,766 (2008: $621,575). A tax instalment has been paid in January 2010 and another instalment will be 
paid in April 2010, which will provide sufficient franking credit for the payment of fully franked dividend on 23 April 
2010. In accordance with the tax consolidation legislation, the Company as the head entity in the tax-consolidated group is 
allowed to assume the relevant subsidiaries’ franking credits. As at 31 December 2009, the subsidiaries have no franking 
credits for the benefit for the Company (2008: nil). 
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 Consolidated Company 

 
2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 
2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 

23. Reserves     

Equity settled employee benefits reserve (i) 199,726 147,142 199,726 147,142

Foreign currency translation reserve (ii) (3,034,333) (1,968,454) - - 

 (2,834,607) (1,821,312) 199,726 147,142
 

(i) The share-based compensation reserve arises on the grant of share options to executives under the employee 
share option plan. Amounts are transferred out of the reserves and into issued capital when the options are 
exercised. Further information about the share-based payments is made in note 22(b) to the financial statements. 

(ii) The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial 
statements of foreign operations as well as from the translation of liabilities that hedge the Company’s net 
investment in a foreign subsidiary. 

 

24. Notes to the Cash Flow Statement     
(a) For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and in banks and 

investments in money market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.  Cash and cash equivalents at the end of 
the financial year as shown in the cash flow statement is reconciled to the related items in the balance sheet as 
follows: 

 Reconciliation of cash and cash 
 equivalents 

     

Cash balance comprises:      

- cash and cash equivalents  5,468,171 4,547,371 15,426 596,205 
 
The Group’s exposure to interest rate and sensitivity analysis of the financial assets and liabilities are discussed in note 30. 
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24. Notes to the Cash Flow Statement (cont.) 
 
 Consolidated Company 
 2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 
2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 
(b) Reconciliation of the profit /(loss) 

for the year to net cash flows from 
operating activities: 

     

Profit after tax  5,171,776 3,210,752 1,772,101 3,411,658 

Depreciation  555,158 409,686 - - 

Amortisation   2,096,726 1,809,768 - - 
Loss on disposal of plant and 
equipment 

 
- 26,845 - - 

Impairment costs  - 237,676 - - 

Provision for doubtful debts  244,175 233,259 - - 

Provision for employee entitlements  (31,576) 53,300 - - 

Equity settled share based payment  52,584 55,000 - - 

Distribution income  - - (1,955,532) (3,300,000) 
Finance charges recognised as 
financing activity 

 
930,066 588,326 64,674 44,326 

 
(Increase) / decrease in assets:      
Trade receivables   (759,941) (562,073) - 8,697 
Prepayments  1,010,760 (1,991,457) (39,363) 965 
Deferred tax asset  865,018 1,146,153 855,646 1,152,792 
Other assets  (117,243) (237,497) (1,712,540) (1,759,365) 
Rental asset inventory  (9,066) (2,087) - - 
Increase / (decrease) in liabilities:      
Trade and other creditors  (1,057,647) (897,455) 54,460 37,016 

Provision for income tax  (1,132,219) (665,013) (996,901) (672,140) 

Deferred tax liability  (463,956) (482,132) - - 

Other payable  (38,155) (66,328) 31,377 - 
Net cash from/(used in) operating 
activities 

 
7,316,460 2,866,723 (1,926,078) (1,076,052) 
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24. Notes to the Cash Flow Statement (cont.) 
 
  Consolidated Company 

 
 2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 
2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 

(c) Financing facilities      
Secured bank overdraft facility 
reviewed annually and payable at call: 

 
    

- amount used  - - - - 

- amount unused  250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 

  250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 
Hire purchase and/or leasing facilities:      
- amount used  3,543 116,136 - - 
- amount unused  10,000 10,000 - - 

  13,543 126,136 - - 
Secured bill acceptance facility:      
- amount used  2,500,000 2,500,000 2,500,000 2,500,000 
- amount unused  2,500,000 2,500,000 2,500,000 2,500,000 

  5,000,000 5,000,000 5,000,000 5,000,000 
      

Other finance facilities (business credit 
card, payroll facility, term loan, multi-
option facility): 

     

- amount used  108,500 86,000 - - 

- amount unused  7,536,500 6,259,000 - 500,000 

  7,645,000 6,345,000 - 500,000 
 Total Financing Facility  12,908,544 11,721,136 5,250,000 5,750,000 

 
The total financing facility of $12,908,544 (2008: $11,721,136) identified above is reviewed annually and secured 
over the assets of the group. 

      
(d)   Non-cash financing transactions      

The consolidated entity entered into no non-cash finance transactions during the period (2008: Nil). 
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25. Leases and Hire Purchase Obligations 

 Finance Leases – Leasing Arrangements 
Finance leases relate to computer equipment with lease terms of between 3 to 5 years. The consolidated entity has 
options to purchase the equipment for a nominal amount at the conclusion of the lease agreements. 

   Consolidated 
Finance lease liabilities  Note Future 

minimum lease 
payments 

 
$ 

Interest 
$ 

Present value 
of minimum 

lease payments 
$ 

31 December 2009      
No later than 1 year   4,033 490 3,544 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 
years 

  - - - 

   4,033 490 3,544 

31 December 2008      
No later than 1 year   119,836 3,700 116,136 

   119,836 3,700 116,136 

      
The carrying amounts recorded in the financial statements approximate their aggregate net fair values. 
 
The Company has no finance lease liabilities. 

 Operating Leases – Leasing Arrangements 

Operating leases relate to office facilities with lease terms of between 1 and 6 years. All operating lease contracts 
contain market review clauses in the event that the consolidated entity exercises its option to renew. The 
consolidated entity does not have an option to purchase the leased asset at the expiry of the lease period. 

  Consolidated Company 
  2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 
2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 
Non-cancellable operating lease 
payments: 

     

No later than 1 year  809,814 816,380 - - 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 
years 

 2,614,348 3,563,997 - - 

  3,424,162 4,380,377 - - 
 
No provisions have been recognised in respect of non-cancellable operating leases. 
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26.   Segment Information 

The Group has 3 reportable segments, which are the group’s strategic business units. The strategic business units offer 
the same products and services, and are based on geographical location. For each of the strategic business units, the 
CEO reviews the internal management reports on at least a quarterly basis. The following summary describes the 
operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments: 
 
• Europe: Includes UK, Spain, Italy and France 
• Australasia: Includes Australia and New Zealand 
• USA 

 
Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is included below. Performance is measured based on segment 
profit before income tax as included in the internal management reports that are reviewed by the Group’s CEO. Segment 
profit is used to measure performance as management believes that such information is the most relevant in evaluating the 
results of certain segments relative to other entities that operate within these industries. Inter-segment pricing is determined 
on an arm’s length basis.  
 
Comparative segment information has been represented in conformity with the requirement of AASB 8 Operating Segments. 
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Operating Segments
Information about reportable segments
For the year ended 31 December 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

External revenues 15,244,638 20,157,084 21,510,686 18,648,361 1,495 93,069 36,756,819 38,898,514

Intersegment revenue - - 2,061,806 2,615,158 - - 2,061,806 2,615,158

Interest income 2,374 43,816 950,438 1,061,438 - - 952,812 1,105,254 
Interest expense (915,329) (984,145) (100,397) (8,139) - - (1,015,726) (992,284)
Depreciation and amortisation (1,690,667) (1,602,841) (961,219) (532,471) - 84,142 (2,651,886) (2,051,170)

Reportable segment profit before income tax 3,984,700 4,899,901 8,065,567 7,189,225 (27,210) (2,493,053) 12,023,058 9,596,073

Other material non-cash items:
   Impairment on plant and equipment and intangible assets - - - - - 237,676 - 237,676

Reportable segment assets 15,591,339 17,532,962 8,817,925 8,480,497 6,456 61,110 24,415,720 26,074,569

Capital expenditure 414,377 879,609 1,577,518 1,314,148 - 396,003 1,991,895 2,589,760

Reconciliation of reportable segment revenues 2009 2008

Total revenue for reportable segments 38,818,625 41,513,672
Elimination of inter-segment revenue (2,061,806) (2,615,158)
Consolidated revenue 36,756,819 38,898,514

Reconciliation of reportable segment profit or loss

Total profit or loss for reportable segments 12,023,058 9,596,073 
Elimination of inter-segment profits (2,284,082) (2,023,938)
Unallocated expenses (2,105,652) (1,871,197)
Consolidated profit before tax 7,633,324 5,700,938 

Reconciliation of reportable segment assets

Total assets for reportable segments 24,415,720 26,074,569 
Other unallocated amounts 323,974 365,032 
Consolidated total assets 24,739,694 26,439,601 

Reconciliation of reportable segment liabilities

Total liabilities for reportable segments 6,626,777 9,533,517 
Other unallocated amounts (50,966) - 
Consolidated total liabilities 6,575,811 9,533,517 

Europe Australasia USA Total

 
 
There has been no change to the basis of segmentation or the measurement basis for the segment profit or loss since 31 December 2008.
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The Group’s auditors are KPMG in 2009 and 2008. 
 
28. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities  

 
Under the terms of the UK funder agreement, the Group is potentially liable to refund part of its brokerage income in the 
event that the funder’s bad debts exceed certain pre-agreed levels. As at 31 December 2009, the maximum amount of 
brokerage income that the Group may potentially have to refund in the future is $485,516 (2008:$268,974). 
 
The parent Company has provided guarantees to its subsidiaries, which are contingent liabilities. Refer to note 18 for the 
guarantees provided. 
 
29.    Contingent Inertia Assets  
 
Under the Group’s accounting policy (note 3(o)), inertia revenue is not recognised until the conclusion of the initial rental 
period. At this point, the Group is entitled to acquire the equipment from the funders at a nominal value, and the equipment 
can be disposed of, or continue to be rented to third parties. 
 
The Group does not have control over these future revenue streams and accordingly the revenue is not brought to account 
until it is received. 
 
A conservative estimate of its realisable value has been made by estimating expected sales proceeds through the least 
profitable sales channel and public auction. The after-tax cash flows, calculated from rental contracts in existence at 31 
December 2008, are discounted using appropriate risk factors. The estimated value of future cash flows is $10,635,969 
(2008: $10,932,373), representing the discounted after tax value of assets as determined by reference to auction sales history.  
 
At 1 December 2006, the Group acquired RentSmart Limited. Inertia income of $4,803,652 was recognised as an intangible 
asset as part of the business combination. At 31 December 2009, this asset is carried at amortised cost of $665,490. This 
inertia intangible is not included in the contingent asset disclosed above. 
 

 Consolidated Company 

 2009 2008 2009 2008 
 $ $ $ $ 
     
27.    Remuneration of auditors     

Audit services:  
Auditors of the Company:  
Audit and review of financial reports 
(Australia) 

181,330 276,312 79,952 146,728 

Audit and review of financial reports 
(Overseas) 

86,902 102,312 - - 

 268,232 378,624 79,952 146,728 
  
Services other than statutory audit:     
Other assurance services     
Tax 33,896 77,385 11,620 34,150 

 33,896 77,385 11,620 34,150 
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30. Financial Instruments 

 
30 (a) Interest rate risk  

Profile 
At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Company’s and the Group’s interest-bearing financial instrument were: 
 
  Consolidated Company 
 

 
Carrying amount Carrying amount 

 
Note 

2009 
$ 

2008 
$ 

2009 
$ 

2008 
$ 

Fixed rate instruments      

Loan receivable from related parties  - - 21,947,276 21,299,750 

Financial asset  - - 21,947,276 21,299,750 

      

Term loan  2,490,679 2,459,304 2,490,679 2,459,304 

Hire purchase and finance lease liability  3,543 116,136 - - 

Financial liability  2,494,222 2,575,440 2,490,679 2,459,304 

      

Variable rate instruments      

Cash and cash equivalent  5,468,171 4,547,371 15,426 596,205 

Financial asset  5,468,171 4,547,371 15,426 596,205 
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30. Financial Instruments (cont.) 

 
30 (a) Interest rate risk (cont.) 

Sensitivity analysis 
 
Fixed rate instruments 
The Group has drawn a $2,500,000 180-day commercial bill payable on 20 January 2010 at a fixed rate of 4.64% per annum 
(2008: $2,500,000 at a fixed rate of 4.04% per annum). 
 
Variable rate instruments 
The movements in profit are due to higher/lower interest costs from variable rate debt and cash balances. The Group does 
not have derivative instruments, therefore a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect equity. 
 
A change in 1% in interest rates would have increased or decreased the Group’s profit by $8,171 (2008: $11,399) and the 
Company’s profit by $200,928 (2008: $179,471). 
 
30 (b) Fair value of financial instruments 

The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements approximate their 
aggregate net fair values. 
 
30 (c) Credit risk management 

Exposure to credit risk 
The carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The Group’s maximum credit 
exposure to credit risk at reporting date was: 
 
  Consolidated Company 
 

Note 
2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 
2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 

Cash and cash equivalent  5,468,171 4,547,371 15,426 596,205 

Trade receivables (current) 8 1,893,772 1,882,885 - - 

Trade receivables (non-current) 8 731,609 210,384 - - 

Sundry debtors 8 61,044 - - - 

Deals awaiting settlement 11 310,131 118,233 - - 

Prepayment (current) 10 4,315,120 4,509,891 53,526 14,164 

Prepayment (non-current) 12 2,953,610 3,648,041 - - 

Loan receivables from related parties 14 - - 23,324,755 23,913,494 

  15,733,457 14,916,805 23,393,707 24,523,863 
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30. Financial Instruments (cont.) 

 
30 (c) Credit risk management (cont.) 

Impairment losses 

None of the Company’s receivables are past due (2008: nil).  
 
The ageing of the Group’s trade receivables at the reporting date was: 
 
 Gross 

2009 
$ 

Impairment 
2009 

$ 

Gross 
2008 

$ 

Impairment 
2008 

$ 
Not past due 2,145,578 23,246 1,131,155 - 

Past due 0-30 days 98,626 32,494 404,643 107,575 

Past due 31-120 days 93,604 26,927 313,964 63,899 

Past due 120-365 days 209,286 125,820 140,477 87,140 

More than 1 year 78,288 5,961 103,030 - 

 2,625,382 214,448 2,093,269 258,615 

 
The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows: 
 
    2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 
Balance at 1 January    258,615 265,704 

Impairment loss recognised    214,448 258,616 

Write back for the year    141,488 (21,839) 

Bad debt written off    (375,983) (232,596) 

Effect of exchange rate    (24,120) (11,270) 

Balance at 31 December    214,448 258,615 

 
Trade receivables are reviewed and considered for impairment on a periodical basis, based on the number of days outstanding 
and number of payments in arrears. 55% (2008: 50%) of net trade receivables balance is owed by the Group’s most 
significant financiers, and 21% (2008: 25%) of the remaining net receivables balance is owed by debtors with a good credit 
history with the Group. 
 
In 2009, 73% (2008: 82%) of the total prepayment relates to RentSmart Limited’s upfront insurance premiums payment to 
Allianz on behalf of the rental customer. The premiums are recovered from the customer on a monthly basis. In the event the 
customer defaults, the policy is cancelled and Allianz refunds the unexpired premium. 
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30. Financial Instruments (cont.) 
 
30 (d)      Currency risk management (cont.) 
Exposure to currency risk 
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at balance date was as follows, based on notional amounts: 
 

 31 December 2009 

In AUD GBP EUR NZD USD 
Cash and cash equivalent 3,253,711 236,491              60,560          6,129 

Trade and other receivables 360,190 66,145      76,681  - 

Trade and other payables (1,345,557) (211,075)    (89,336)            (430) 

Gross exposure 2,268,344 91,561 47,905 5,699 

 
 31 December 2008 

In AUD GBP EUR NZD USD 
Cash and cash equivalent 1,567,454 239,583 102,122 53,994 

Trade and other receivables 378,717 110,251 198,402 - 

Trade and other payables (2,432,023) (415,987) (92,959) (245,857) 

Gross exposure (485,852) (66,153) 207,565 (191,863) 

 
The Company’s foreign currency risk is nil as it is only exposed to the Australian dollar. 
 
The following significant exchange rates applied during the year: 
 
 Average rate Reporting date spot rate 

AUD 2009 2008 2009 2008 

EUR 0.5664 0.5772 0.6241 0.4919 

GBP 0.5044 0.4584 0.5581 0.4796 

USD 0.7927 0.8525 0.8969 0.6928 
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30. Financial Instruments (cont.) 

 
30 (d)      Currency risk management (cont.) 
Sensitivity analysis 
A 10% strengthening of the Australian dollar against the following currencies at 31 December would have increased 
(decreased) equity and profit and loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in 
particular interest rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2008: 
 
  Consolidated Company 
 

 
Equity 

$ 
Profit or loss 

$ 
Equity 

$ 
Profit or loss 

$ 

31 December 2009      

EUR  70,836 69,065 - - 

GBP  (1,215,251) (133,817) - - 

USD  548 2,473 - - 

      

31 December 2008      

EUR  (35,938) (40,969) - - 

GBP  (1,210,519) (271,569) - - 

USD  16,795 221,783 - - 
 
A 10% weakening of the Australian dollar against the above currencies at 31 December would have had equal but opposite 
effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant. 
 
30 (e) Liquidity risk management 

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and excluding the 
impact of netting agreements: 
 

Consolidated Carrying 
Amount

Contractual 
cash flow

Less than 1 
year

1-2 years 2-5 years 

31 December 2009      

Trade and other payables      3,048,126      (3,048,126) (3,048,126) - - 

Term loans      2,490,679      (2,490,679) (2,490,679) - - 

Hire purchase and lease liabilities             3,543             (3,543) (3,543) - - 

Product plan (non-current)               492 (492) - (492) - 

 5,542,840 (5,542,840) (5,542,348) (492) - 

31 December 2008      

Trade and other payables 4,258,699 (4,258,699) (4,258,699) - - 

Term loans 2,459,304 (2,500,000) (2,500,000) - - 

Hire purchase and lease liabilities 116,136 (119,836) (119,836) - - 

Product plan (non-current) 38,648 (38,648) - (38,648) - 

 6,872,787 (6,917,183) (6,878,535) (38,648) - 
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30. Financial Instruments (cont.) 

 

30 (e) Liquidity risk management (cont.) 

 

Company Carrying 
Amount 

Contractual 
cash flow 

Less than 1 
year 

1-2 years 2-5 years 

31 December 2009      

Trade and other payables 96,689 (96,689) (96,689) - - 

Term loans 2,490,679 (2,490,679) (2,490,679) - - 

      

31 December 2008      

Trade and other payables 42,229 (42,229) (42,229) - - 

Term loans 2,459,304 (2,500,000) (2,500,000) - - 

 2,501,533 (2,542,229) (2,542,229) - - 

      
 
 
31 Related party disclosures 
 
The following were key management personnel (“KMP”) of the group are any time during the reporting period and unless 
otherwise indicated were key management personnel for the entire period: 
 
Non-Executive Directors 
P Mansell  
S Penglis 
D Griffiths 
 
Executive Directors 
N Montarello (Chairman, Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer) 
 
Executives 
N Barker (Group Chief Operating Officer, ThinkSmart Ltd) 
S McDonagh (Executive General Manager, RentSmart Unit Trust)  
M Radotic (General Manager Sales and Marketing - Continental Europe, ThinkSmart Europe Ltd) 
G Varma (Group Chief Information Officer, ThinkSmart Ltd) 
G Parry (Managing Director - UK, RentSmart Limited) 
 
 
The KMP compensation included in ‘employee benefits expense’ in note 6(b) is as follows: 

 
 Consolidated Company 
 2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 
2009 

$ 
2007 

$ 

     

Short-term employee benefits 2,240,908 2,231,883 - - 
Post-employment benefits 171,089 165,462 - - 
Share-based payment 36,619 34,541 - - 

 2,448,616 2,431,886 - - 
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31 Related party disclosures (cont.) 
 
The KMP receive no compensation in relation to management of the Company (2008: nil). The compensation disclosed 
above represents an allocation of the KMP’s estimated compensation from the Group in relation to their services rendered to 
the Company. 
 
Individual directors and executives compensation disclosures 
Information regarding individual directors and executives compensation and some equity instruments disclosures as 
permitted by Corporations Regulations 2M.3.03 is provided in the Remuneration Report section of the Directors’ report. 
 
Apart from the details disclosed in this note, no director has entered into a material contract with the Group since the end of 
the previous financial year and there were no material contracts involving directors’ interests existing at year-end. 
 
Loans to KMP and their related parties 
There has been no loan provided to KMP and their related parties as at 31 December 2009 (2008: nil). 
 
Other KMP transactions 
During the year and previous year, there has been no transaction with entities in which the KMP has significant influence 
over those entities’ financial or operating policies. 
 
Options and rights over equity instruments 
The movement during the reporting period in the number of options over ordinary shares in ThinkSmart Ltd held, directly, 
indirectly or beneficially, by each key management person, including their related parties, is as follows: 
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31 Related party disclosures (cont) 
 
 
Employee Options  

Held at 1 
January 2009

Granted as 
compensation Exercised

Lapsed or 
forfeited

Held at 31 
December 2009

Vested during the 
year

Vested and 
exercisable at 31 
December 2009

Directors
P Mansell -                     -                           -                   -                         -                          -                            -                              
S Penglis -                     -                           -                   -                         -                          -                            -                              
D Griffiths -                     -                           -                   -                         -                          -                            -                              
N Montarello 2,800,000          1,000,000                 -                   1,400,000-              2,400,000               1,400,000                 1,400,000                   

Executives
N Barker 560,000             500,000                    -                   -                         1,060,000               373,333                    560,000                      
S McDonagh -                     300,000                    -                   -                         300,000                  -                            -                              
M Radotic 280,000             300,000                    -                   -                         580,000                  280,000                    280,000                      
G Varma 186,667             150,000                    -                   -                         336,667                  93,333                      186,667                      
G Parry 280,000             300,000                    -                   -                         580,000                  280,000                    280,000                      

Held at 1 
January 2008

Granted as 
compensation Exercised

Lapsed or 
forfeited

Held at 31 
December 2008

Vested during the 
year

Vested and 
exercisable at 31 
December 2008

Directors
P Mansell -                     -                           -                   -                         -                          -                            -                              
S Penglis -                     -                           -                   -                         -                          -                            -                              
D Griffiths -                     -                           -                   -                         -                          -                            -                              
N Montarello 6,800,000          -                           (805,893)          (3,194,107)             2,800,000               1,400,000                 1,400,000                   

Executives
N Barker 560,000             -                           -                   -                         560,000                  93,333                      186,667                      
S McDonagh -                     -                           -                   -                         -                          -                            -                              
M Radotic 280,000             -                           -                   -                         280,000                  -                            -                              
G Varma 560,000             -                           (373,333)          -                         186,667                  93,333                      93,333                        
G Parry 280,000             -                           -                   -                         280,000                  -                            -                              
J Rozenbroek 280,000             -                           -                   -                         280,000                  -                            -                               
 
No options were held by key management person related parties. 
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31 Related party disclosures (cont.) 
 
Movement in shares 
The movement during the reporting period in the number of ordinary shares in ThinkSmart Ltd held, directly, indirectly or 
beneficially, by each key management person, including their related parties, is as follows: 
 

2009 
Held at 1 

January 2009 Purchases Sales 
Received on 

exercise of options 
Held at 31 

December 2009 
Directors      
P Mansell 1,300,000 250,000 - - 1,550,000 
S Penglis 1,610,500 - 550,000 - 1,060,500 
D Griffiths 1,613,360 186,640 - - 1,800,000 
N Montarello 17,253,192 151,373 - - 17,404,565
      
Executives   
N Barker 172,999 - - - 172,999 
S McDonagh 51,000 60,000 - - 111,000 
M Radotic 35,000 - - - 35,000 
G Varma 398,333 - - - 398,333 
G Parry 25,357 - - - 25,357 
      

 

2008 
Held at 1 

January 2008 Purchases Sales 
Received on 

exercise of options 
Held at 31 

December 2008 
Directors      
P Mansell 1,288,192 11,808 - - 1,300,000 
S Penglis 1,360,500 250,000 - - 1,610,500 
D Griffiths 1,463,360 150,000 - - 1,613,360 
N Montarello 13,742,732 2,704,567 - 805,893 17,253,192 
      
Executives      
N Barker 22,999 150,000 - - 172,999 
S McDonagh - 51,000 - - 51,000 
M Radotic 35,000 - - - 35,000 
G Varma 25,000 - - 373,333 398,333 
G Parry 25,357 - - - 25,357 
      

 
No shares were granted to key management personnel during the reporting period as compensation in 2009 or 2008.  
 
No shares were held by related parties of key management personnel. 
 
Parent 
The parent entity of the Group is ThinkSmart Limited. 
 
Subsidiaries 
Transactions between ThinkSmart Limited and its subsidiaries, and amongst the various subsidiaries, consists of the payment 
and receipt of royalty fee, investment in subsidiaries, interest on intercompany loans, dividend distribution, management fee 
and transfer of funds amongst the companies for day to day financing and intercompany loans.  
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31 Related party disclosures (cont.) 
 
Details of related party transactions, balances and amounts are set out below: 
 

 Company 
 2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 
Investments in controlled entities 185,943 133,359 
Amount owed by ThinkSmart Europe Ltd (i) 9,057,465 8,493,800 

Amount owed by RentSmart Unit Trust (i) 12,889,811 12,805,950 

Amount owed by RentSmart Ltd (ii) 1,191,536 2,480,385 

 23,324,755 23,913,494 
 
(i) Amounts receivable by the parent entity from and to subsidiaries are unsecured, repayable on demand in cash and at an 

interest rate of RBA rate plus a margin of 3% per annum. The amount of interest revenue recognised from subsidiaries 
is $1,713,800 (2008:$1,759,365) for the year ended 31 December 2009.  

(ii) Amounts receivable by the parent entity from and to subsidiaries are unsecured, repayable on demand in cash and 
interest free. 

 
The receivable from ThinkSmart Europe Ltd relates to funding for the acquisition of the remaining interest of RentSmart Ltd 
in UK in 2006. The receivable from RentSmart Unit Trust relates to the funding to repay external borrowings. The 
receivable from RentSmart Ltd relates to the funding of the US operation during the year. 
  
Other related parties 
KMP related parties 
For details of these transactions, refer to KMP related disclosures. 
 
 
32 Subsequent events 
 
There has not been any matter or circumstance, other than that referred to in the financial statements or notes thereto, that 
has arisen since the end of the financial year, that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the 
consolidated entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the consolidated entity in future financial years. 
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33 Earnings per share 
 
  2009 

Cents per share 
2008 

Cents per share 
Basic earnings per share    
From continuing operations  5.35 3.34 
    
Diluted earnings per share    
From continuing operations  5.26 3.22 
    
 
 
Basic earnings per share    
The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share are as 
follows: 
  2009 2008 
  $ $ 
   
Profit after tax from continuing operations 5,171,776 3,210,752 
Earnings used in the calculation of basic EPS from continuing operations 5,171,776 3,210,752 
   
  2008 
  No.
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic 
earnings per share 96,689,390 96,028,963 
 
 
Diluted earnings per share 
The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share are as 
follows: 
 2009 2008
 $ $
   
Profit after tax from continuing operations 5,171,776 3,210,752 
Earnings used in the calculation of diluted EPS from continuing operations 5,171,776 3,210,752 
   
 2009 2008
 No. No.
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of diluted 
earnings per share are as follows: 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic 
EPS 96,689,390 96,028,963 
Shares deemed to be issued for no consideration in respect of:    
Employee options 1,693,407 3,635,142 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of 
diluted EPS 98,382,797 99,664,105 
 
At 31 December 2009, 3,386,667 options (2008: 4,160,000) were excluded from the diluted weighted average number of 
ordinary shares calculation as their effect would have been anti-dilutive. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 








